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In the Name of Allah,
the Bene cent, the Merciful

H.E. The Chairman,
Board of Governors of the Islamic Development Bank

Dear Mr. Chairman,

Assalamu-O-Alaikum Waramatullah Wabarakatuh

 In accordance with Articles 32(i), 32(iii) and 41(1) of the Articles of the Agreement 
establishing the Islamic Development Bank and Section 11 of the By-laws, I have the 
honour to submit for the kind attention of the esteemed Board of Governors, on behalf 
of the Board of Executive Directors, the Annual Report on the operations and activities 
of the Bank in 1426H (2005-2006).

 The Annual Report also includes the audited nancial statements of the Bank as
well as those of the operations of the Waqf Fund, the Export Financing Scheme and the 
Islamic Banks Portfolio for Investment and Development, as prescribed in Section 13 of 
the By-laws.

 Please accept, Mr. Chairman, the assurances of my highest consideration.

Dr. Ahmad Mohamed Ali

       President,
             Islamic Development Bank and
       Chairman,
      Board of Executive Directors            

13 Rabi Awwal 1427H
11 April 2006
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AUDITORS’ REPORT

Your Excellencies the Chairman and Members of the Board of Governors
Islamic Development Bank

We have audited the accompanying statement of financial position of Islamic Development Bank - Ordinary Capital 
Resources (the “Bank”) as of 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H (30 January 2006) and the related statements of income, cash 
flows and changes in members’ equity for the year then ended.  These financial statements and the Bank’s undertaking 
to operate in accordance with Islamic Shari’ah are the responsibility of the Bank’s management.  Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards for Islamic Financial Institutions. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our 
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of Islamic Development Bank - Ordinary Capital Resources as of 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H (30 January 2006), and 
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the Financial  Accounting 
Standards issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) and the 
Shari’ah rules and principles as determined by the Shari’ah Board of the Bank.

We also note that the Bank has followed other accounting standards with respect to accounting measurement, 
recognition, presentation and disclosure matters not covered by the AAOIFI standards, which are disclosed in note 
2(a).
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ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As of 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H (30 January 2006)

(In Thousands of Islamic Dinars)
Notes 1426H 1425H

ASSETS 
Cash at banks 3 94,770 61,493
Commodity placements with banks, net 4 1,187,182 368,392
Murabaha financing, net 6 776,108 1,007,502
Accrued income and other assets 5 163,425

------------
140,120

------------
2,221,485

-------------
1,577,507
------------

Istisna’a assets, net 7 482,732 344,332
Installment sales financing, net 8 478,575 452,075
Loans, net 9 835,086 737,485
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek, net 10 751,827

------------
792,804

------------
2,548,220
------------

2,326,696
------------

Investments in equity capital, net 12 676,145 470,389
Investments in subsidiaries and trust funds:
Export Financing Scheme 13 75,000 75,000
Islamic Banks’ Portfolio for Investment and Development 14 39,699 39,699
Islamic Corporation for the Development of the Private 
Sector

15 191,940 191,940

Awqaf Properties Investment Fund 14,629 11,982
Other investments, net 16 67,953 9,434
Property and operating equipment, net 17 55,579

------------
57,407

------------
TOTAL ASSETS 5,890,650

=======
4,760,054
=======

LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS’ EQUITY 
LIABILITIES
Accruals and other liabilities 18 644,430 217,174
Sukuk liability 19 627,418

------------
268,410

------------
Total liabilities 1,271,848

------------
485,584

------------
MEMBERS’ EQUITY
Paid-up capital 21 2,735,940 2,725,376  
Capital reserve 22 26,267 26,267
General reserve 23 1,308,367 1,242,420
Fair value reserve 403,080 211,102
Net income for the year 145,148

------------
69,305

------------
Total members’ equity 4,618,802

------------
4,274,470   
------------

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS’ EQUITY 5,890,650
=======

4,760,054
=======

The financial statements were authorized for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Executive 
Directors on   5 Safar, 1427H (5 March, 2006)

The attached notes from 1 through 33 form an integral part of these financial statements
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ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

STATEMENT OF INCOME
For the Year Ended 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H (30 January 2006)

(In Thousands of Islamic Dinars)

Notes 1426H 1425H
Income from:

Commodity placements with banks 4 26,354 15,599
Other investments 5 630 412
Murabaha financing 6 30,256 18,640
Istisna’a assets 7 15,862 10,601
Installment sales financing 8 21,828 25,994
Loan service fees 9 17,847 14,648
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek 10 137,232 101,790
Investments in equity capital 12 17,091 17,343
Investment in Islamic Banks’ Portfolio for Investment and 
Development 

14 1,284 474

Mudarib fees & others 14, 26 4,095
----------

2,411
----------

272,479 207,912
Foreign exchange gain/(loss), net 987 (6,188)
Financing cost 18, 19 (28,218)

----------
(9,915)

----------
245,248
----------

191,809
----------

Administrative expenses:
Staff costs (39,965) (38,208)
Other (10,995)

----------
(10,954)
----------

(50,960)
----------

(49,162)
----------

Depreciation:
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek 10 (83,954) (65,836)
Property and operating equipment 17 (2,325)

----------
(2,006)

----------
(86,279)
----------

(67,842)
----------

Recovery of (provision for) impairment of assets 11 37,139
----------

(5,500)
----------

Net income 145,148
======

69,305
======

The attached notes from 1 through 33 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H (30 January 2006)

(In Thousands of Islamic Dinars)
1426H 1425H

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATIONS
Net income 145,148 69,305
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash (used in)/from operating 
activities:

Depreciation 86,279 67,842
Provision for impairment of assets (37,139) 5,500
Gain due to early repayment of Ijarah assets (13,255) -
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Other investments (56,779) (5,898)
Murabaha financing 262,704 (331,350)
Istisna’a assets (136,567) (72,362)
Installment sales financing (12,073) 16,639
Loans (88,590) (84,912)
Accrued income and other assets (23,305) (72,396)
Accruals and other liabilities and sukuk  liabilities 786,264

----------
97,198

----------
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 912,687

----------
(310,434)

----------
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Commodity placements with banks 54,495 44,655
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek, net (50,904) (213,720)
Investments in equity capital (13,778) (18,763)
Investment in Awqaf Properties Investment Fund (2,647) (2,765)
Purchase of property and operating equipment, net (497)

----------
(623)

----------
Net cash used in investing activities (13,331)

----------
(191,216)

----------
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Increase in paid-up capital 10,564 14,074
Technical assistance grants (3,358)

----------
(3,438)

----------
Net cash from financing activities 7,206

----------
10,636

----------
Increase /(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 906,562 (491,014)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 363,709

----------
854,723
----------

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (Note 24) 1,207,271
=======

363,709
======

Supplemental non-cash information
Net unrealized fair value gains from investments in equity capital (Note 12) 191,978

======
125,260
======

The attached notes from 1 through 33 form an integral part of these financial statements
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ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS’ EQUITY
For the Year Ended 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H (30 January 2006)

 (In Thousands of Islamic Dinars)

Paid-up
capital

Capital
reserve

General
reserve

Fair
value

reserve

Net
income
for the
 year

Total

Balance at 30 Dhul Hijjah 1424H 2,711,302 26,267 1,187,234 85,842 58,624 4,069,269
Increase in paid-up capital 14,074 -  - - - 14,074
Net unrealized gains from 
investments in equity capital 

- - - 125,260 - 125,260

Net income - - - - 69,305 69,305
Transfer to reserves - - 58,624 - (58,624) -
*Allocation for technical Assistance -

----------
-

----------
(3,438)

----------
-

----------
-

----------
(3,438)

----------
Balance at 30 Dhul Hijjah 1425H 2,725,376 26,267 1,242,420 211,102 69,305 4,274,470
Increase in paid-up capital 10,564 - - - - 10,564
Net unrealized gains from 
investments in equity capital 

- - - 191,978 - 191,978

Net income - - - - 145,148 145,148
Transfer to reserves - - 69,305 - (69,305) -
*Allocation for technical Assistance -

----------
-

----------
(3,358)

----------
-

----------
-

----------
(3,358)

----------
Balance at 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H 2,735,940

=======
26,267

=======
1,308,367
=======

403,080
=======

145,148
=======

4,618,802
=======

* According to the Board of Governors’ resolution No. BG/3-425, and the Board of Executive Directors’ resolution 
No. BED/BG/4-425 US$ 5.0 million were allocated from the net income of 1424H for the financing of 1425H 
Technical Assistance Operations in the form of grants. A similar amount in US dollars was allocated from the 
1425H net income of IDB - OCR in accordance with the Board of Governors’ resolution No. BG/3-426 and the 
Board of Executive Directors’ resolution No. BED/BG/5-426 for the financing of 1426H Technical Assistance 
Operations in the form of grants.

 According to the Board of Governors’ resolution No. BG/4-426, and the Board of Executive Directors’ resolution 
No.BED/BG/6-426, an amount equivalent to 2% but not less than US dollars 2 million of the net income for 1426H 
will be allocated for the Merit Scholarship Programme in the form of grants for the year 1427H

The attached notes from 1 through 33 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H (30 January 2006)

1. INCORPORATION AND ACTIVITIES

Islamic Development Bank (the “Bank”) is an international financial institution established pursuant to Articles 
of Agreement signed and ratified by its member countries.  The Bank commenced its operations on 15 Shawwal 
1395H (20 October 1975).  The purpose of the Bank is to foster economic development and social progress of 
member countries and Muslim communities, individually as well as jointly, in accordance with the principles of 
Shari’ah. The Bank has 56 member states.

All of the Bank’s operational assets are considered as sovereign debts made to or guaranteed by the respective 
member countries or investments in member countries, which are guaranteed by commercial banks acceptable 
to the Bank.

As an international institution, the Bank is not subject to an external regulatory authority.

The Bank consults the Islamic Fiqh Academy, an institution established by the Organization of the Islamic 
Conference, to provide it with Shari’ah advice. In 1422H, the Bank also established its own Shari’ah Advisory 
Board.

The Bank carries out its business activities through its headquarters in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia, its regional offices 
in Morocco, Malaysia and Kazakhstan, and the following affiliated entities/trust funds:

Entity Relationship Equity
ownership

Nature of  business

Islamic Corporation for the Insurance of 
Investment and Export Credit

Management services - Insurance services

Export Financing Scheme Management services 
and equity participation  
(subsidiary)

57%
Financing exports of 
member countries

Islamic Banks’ Portfolio for Investment 
and  Development

Mudarib and 
equity participation 
(subsidiary)

50%
Investment finance

Islamic Development Bank - Unit 
Investment Fund

Mudarib - Investment finance

Islamic Corporation for the Development 
of the Private Sector

Equity participation 
(subsidiary)

91% Private sector finance

Special Account Resources Waqf Fund Management services - Social sector finance

Awqaf Properties Investment Fund Mudarib and equity 
participation

35% Social sector finance
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The financial statements of the Bank are expressed in thousands of Islamic Dinars (ID).  Islamic Dinar is the unit 
of account of the Bank and is equal to one Special Drawing Right (SDR) of the International Monetary Fund.

The financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities and results of operations of the Ordinary Capital Resources 
of the Bank, as defined in the Articles of Agreement.  The financial statements exclude the balances and results 
of operations of the Bank’s subsidiaries and certain special trust funds, which are managed and/or operated by 
the Bank.  The Bank prepares separate consolidated financial statements, which reflect the assets, liabilities and 
results of operations of the Bank’s subsidiaries and trust funds over which the Bank exerts control.

The Bank’s financial year is the lunar Hijra year.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Basis of preparation

 The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Article 8.2 of the Financial Regulations of the Bank 
and with the Financial Accounting Standards issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic 
Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) and the Shari’ah rules and principles as determined by the Shari’ah Board of 
the Bank.  For matters which are not covered by AAOIFI standards, the Bank uses the relevant standard issued 
or adopted by the International Acccounting Standards Board (the IASB) and the relevant interpretation issued 
by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee of the IASB.

 The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention as modified for the measurement at 
fair value of available-for-sale investments.

b) Translation of currencies

 Transactions in currencies other than Islamic Dinar are recorded at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of 
the respective transactions.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to 
Islamic Dinars on the basis of SDR rates declared by the International Monetary Fund at the date of the statement 
of financial position. Foreign currency exchange gains and losses are credited or charged to the statement of 
income.

c) Revenue recognition

 Income from placements with Islamic and conventional banks is recognized on a time apportionment basis over 
the period from the actual disbursement of funds to the date of maturity.

 Any income from cash and cash equivalents and other investments, which is considered by management as 
forbidden by Shari’ah, is not included in the Bank’s statement of income but is transferred to Special Account 
Resources Waqf Fund.

 Income from lease participation pools is recognized based on the valuation reports received from the pool 
managers.  Provision is created when the Bank identifies investments in specific lease participation pools as 
potentially impaired.

 Income from investments in Sukuk is accrued on a time apportionment basis using the rate of return advised by 
the issuing entities.

 Income from Murabaha financing and Installment sales financing are accrued on a time apportionment basis over 
the period from the date of the actual disbursement of funds to the scheduled repayment date of Installments.

 Income from Istisna’a assets is recognized using the percentage of completion method.  The percentage of 
completion is determined based on the proportion of the cost incurred to date to the total cost of the project.
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 Income from loan service fees is accrued according to the loan agreement.

 Income from Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek is allocated proportionately to the financial periods on the lease term.

 Income from investments in Export Financing Scheme, Islamic Banks’ Portfolio for Investment and Development, 
Islamic Corporation for the Development of the Private Sector and Awqaf Properties Investment Fund is 
recognized when dividends are declared.

d) Operational assets

 Operational assets consist of receivables from Murabaha financing, Istisna’a assets, installment sales financing, 
loan contracts and Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek assets. 

 Amounts receivable from Murabaha financing are stated at the cost of goods sold or disbursements made to 
the beneficiaries plus income recognized by the Bank to the date of the statement of financial position, less 
repayments received.

 Istisna’a assets represent the disbursements made as of the date of the statement of financial position against the 
assets acquired for Istisna’a projects plus income recognized, less repayments received.

 Amounts receivable from Installment sales financing are stated at the gross amount receivable from the 
beneficiaries, net of unearned income.

 Amounts receivable from loans represent amounts disbursed in respect of projects plus the loan service fees due, 
less repayments received relating to the outstanding capital portion of the loan as determined according to the 
loan agreements.

 Amounts relating to Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek consist of assets purchased by the Bank, either individually or 
as part of syndication  with other financial institutions or entities, and leased to beneficiaries for their use under 
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek agreements whereby the ownership of the assets is transferred to the beneficiaries 
at the end of the lease term upon completion of all payments under the agreements.  The assets are stated at cost 
less the accumulated depreciation up to the date of the statement of financial position. The assets are depreciated 
using the straight-line method over the related lease period. No depreciation is recorded in respect of assets not 
yet  put to use.

e) Investment deposit scheme

 Resources from the investment deposit scheme are included as part of the Bank’s Ordinary Capital Resources.  
The scheme’s Regulations provide that returns due to investment depositors are determined in relation to the 
current mark-up applicable to foreign trade financing at the date of receipt of the deposits.  The Bank deducts 
a proportion in respect of its administrative costs of the scheme, except for deposits placed by the Bank’s staff 
retirement plan.

f) Investments in equity capital

 Investments in equity capital are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, and may be sold in response 
to needs for liquidity or changes in equity prices. Such investments are measured at fair value, and any unrealized 
gains arising from the change in their fair value are recognized directly in the fair value reserve under Members’ 
Equity, whereas, unrealized losses resulting from re-measurement at fair value are recognized in the fair value 
reserve under Members’ Equity to the extent of the available balance.  Excess of unrealized loss over the available 
balance is recognized in the statement of income.  In case there are unrealized losses that have been recognized 
in the statement of income in previous years, the unrealized gains related to the current year are recognized in 
the statement of income to the extent of such previous losses.
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 Investments available-for-sale whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are carried at cost, less provision for 
any impairment in the value of these investments.

g) Impairment of financial assets

 Operational assets:
 The Bank determines the provision for impairment losses based on an assessment of incurred losses. It takes into 

account the losses that suffers as a result of rescheduling the dues from certain countries and from settlement 
plans mutually agreed with the beneficiaries due to its participation in the debt relief initiative for the Heavily 
Indebted Poor Countries (HIPC). The loss results from the difference between the carrying amount of the asset 
and the net present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the implicit rate of return in the agreement. 
The impairment provision is periodically adjusted based on a review of the prevailing circumstances.  In addition, 
a portfolio provision is created for losses where there is objective evidence that unidentified losses are present in 
the portfolio at the balance sheet date. These are estimated based on country risk ratings, the current economic 
conditions and the default pattern that are embedded in the components of the portfolio. 

 Adjustments to the provision are recorded as a charge or addition to income. In determining the adequacy of 
the provision, the Bank takes into account the net present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the 
financial instruments’ implicit rate of return.

 Other financial assets:
 An assessment is made at each financial position date to determine whether there is objective evidence that a 

financial asset or a group of financial assets may be impaired. The amount of the impairment losses for financial 
assets carried at amortized cost is calculated as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and its 
estimated fair value.

 For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the carrying amount of the asset is adjusted either directly or 
through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the adjustment is included in the statement of income 
upon impairment.

h) Investments in lease participation pools and real estate funds

 Investments in lease participation pools and real estate funds are recorded initially at cost and are revalued 
periodically based on the valuation reports received from the pool managers. 

 Provision is created when the Bank identifies investments in specific lease participation pools as potentially 
impaired. 

i) Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and trust funds

 Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and trust funds over which the Bank exerts control are carried at cost. 
The Bank’s share of dividends distributed by the subsidiaries and trust funds are recognized in the statement of 
income.

 The Bank also prepares separate consolidated financial statements in which the results of its subsidiaries and 
trust funds, over which the Bank exerts control, are consolidated.
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 The following is a summary of the financial information (in thousands of ID) for the unconsolidated subsidiaries 

and trust funds as of end of Dhul Hijjah and for the years then ended: 

1426H 1425H
Income from operations 24,382 22,722
Net income 25,800 12,735
Total assets 650,779 638,329
Total liabilities 59,704 82,920

j) Property and operating equipment
 Property and operating equipment are recorded at cost, except for donated land, which is recorded at its market 

value at the time of acquisition.  

 Land is not depreciated. Other property and operating equipment are depreciated using the straight-line 
method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Permanent headquarters building 40 years
Pre-fabricated buildings 6 2/3 years
Furniture and equipment 4 to 10 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

 In the year of acquisition, additions are depreciated at 50% of the normal rate.  Maintenance and repair costs are 
expensed as incurred.

k) Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances and commodity placements with banks having a maturity of 
three months or less at the date of acquisition. 

l) Post-employment benefits plans

 The Bank has two defined post-employment benefit plans, the Staff Retirement Plan and the Post-Employment 
Medical Scheme, both of which require contributions to be made to separately administered funds.  The cost of 
providing benefits under the plans is determined separately for each plan based on actuarial valuation.  Actuarial 
gains and losses are recognized as income or expense where material.  These gains or losses are recognized over 
the expected average remaining working lives of the employees participating in the plans.
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(In Thousands of Islamic Dinars)
3. CASH AT BANKS

Cash at banks at end of Dhul Hijjah comprises the following:

1426H 1425H
Cash on hand 211 154
Current accounts 30,756 30,141
Call accounts 63,803

---------
31,198
---------

Total 94,770
=====

61,493
=====

Current accounts at end of Dhul Hijjah 1426H include ID 16.48 million (1425H - ID 18 million), which represent 
balances in member countries’ currencies.  These current account balances are to be used to finance operations 
and projects in the countries in which these accounts are maintained.  For each such account, the country is 
required to maintain the counter-value in local currency.

4. COMMODITY PLACEMENTS WITH BANKS, NET

 Commodity placements with banks at the end of Dhul Hijjah comprise the following:

1426H 1425H
Placements with Islamic banks 38,991 27,901
Placements with conventional banks 1,152,334

------------
344,634
----------

1,191,325 372,535
Less: Provision for impairment (note 11) (4,143)

------------
(4,143)

------------
Commodity placements with banks, net 1,187,182

=======
368,392

=======

 Placements with Islamic and conventional banks are utilized in the purchase and sale of commodities. Trading 
is conducted by Islamic and conventional banks on behalf of the Bank. The discretion of the Islamic and 
conventional banks over buying and selling is limited by the terms of the agreements between the Bank and 
the Islamic and conventional banks. The banks have guaranteed the liability of the third parties in respect of all 
transactions.

5. ACCRUED INCOME AND OTHER ASSETS

 Accrued income and other assets at the end of Dhul Hijjah comprise the following

1426H 1425H
Accrued income from placements 4,268 1,849
Accruals from projects 52,321 45,605
IDB Group current accounts (note 27) 89,084 78,413
Staff loans and advances 9,687 9,265
Prepayments and other assets 8,065

--------
4,988

--------
Total 163,425

======
140,120
======
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6. MURABAHA FINANCING, NET

 Murabaha financing at the end of Dhul Hijjah comprises the following:

1426H 1425H
Gross amounts receivable 1,040,974 1,178,594
Less: share of syndicate members (233,203) (112,794)
Less: Unearned income (27,269)

-----------
(22,594)
-----------

780,502 1,043,206
Less: Provision for impairment (Note 11) (4,394)

-----------
(35,704)
-----------

Murabaha financing, net 776,108
======

1,007,502
=======

 All goods purchased for resale under Murabaha financing are made on the basis of specific purchase for resale 
to the subsequent customer.  The promise of the customer is considered to be binding. Consequently, any loss 
suffered by the Bank as a result of default by the customer prior to the sale of goods would be made good by the 
customer.

 The Bank has entered into joint Murabaha financing agreements with certain entities. The share of syndicate 
members represent the portion of gross amounts receivable relating to those entities.

 Income from Murabaha financing for the years ended at the end of Dhul Hijjah comprises the following:

1426H 1425H
Total income from Murabaha financing 32,017 20,211
Less: Share of investment depositors (Note 2e) (1,761)

----------
(1,571)

----------
Income from Murabaha financing, net 30,256

======
18,640

======

7. ISTISNA’A ASSETS, NET

 Istisna’a assets at the end of Dhul Hijjah comprise the following:

1426H 1425H
Istisna’a assets in progress 333,172 288,819
Istisna’a receivables 207,616

----------
86,952

----------
540,788 375,771

Less : Unearned income (55,119)
-----------

(26,669)
-----------

485,669 349,102
(2,937)
---------

(4,770)
---------

Less : Provision for impairment (Note 11)
Istisna’a assets, net 482,732

======
344,332

=======
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8. INSTALLMENT SALES FINANCING, NET 

 Receivable from Installment sales financing at the end of Dhul Hijjah comprises the following:

1426H 1425H
Gross amounts receivable 660,534 656,265
Less: Unearned income (172,446)

------------
(180,250)
------------

488,088 476,015
Less: Provision for impairment (Note 11) (9,513)

----------
(23,940)
----------

Installment sales financing, net 478,575
======

452,075
======

 All goods purchased for resale under Installment sales financing are made on the basis of specific purchase for 
resale to the subsequent customer. The promise of the customer is considered to be binding. Consequently, any 
loss suffered by the Bank as a result of default by the customer prior to the sale of goods would be made good 
by the customer.

9. LOANS, NET

 Loan balances at the end of Dhul Hijjah comprise the following:

1426H 1425H
Loans 907,996 819,406
Less: Provision for impairment (Note 11) (72,910)

------------
(81,921)

------------
Loans, net 835,086

=======
737,485

=======
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10. IJARAH MUNTAHIA BITTAMLEEK, NET

 Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek at the end of Dhul Hijjah comprises the following:

1426H 1425H
Cost:
Assets not yet in use:

At the beginning of the year 251,613 232,434
Additions 132,021 213,720
Transferred to assets in use (121,766)

------------
(194,541)
------------

At the end of the year 261,868
------------

251,613
------------

Assets in use:
At the beginning of the year 829,220 634,679
Disposal due to early repayment (131,091) -
Transferred from assets not yet in use 121,766

------------
194,541

------------
At the end of the year 819,895

------------
829,220

------------
Total cost 1,081,763

------------
1,080,833
------------

Accumulated depreciation:
At the beginning of the year (284,148) (218,312)
Disposal for early repayment 63,229 -
Charge for the year (83,954)

------------
(65,836)

------------
At the end of the year (304,873)

------------
(284,148)
------------

Balance at the end of the year 776,890 796,685
Less: Provision for impairment (Note 11) (25,063)

------------
(3,881)

------------
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek, net 751,827

=======
792,804

=======

Included in assets in use is an amount of ID 103.6 million (1425H - ID 85.7 million) that represents the cost of 
fully depreciated assets, which will ultimately be transferred to the beneficiaries under the terms of the lease 
agreements. Certain of the assets refer to above represents the Bank’s share in the lease pool (also see note 
2d).
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11. PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

 The movements in the provision for impairment during the years ended at end of Dhul Hijjah are as follows:

1426H 1425H
Balance at the beginning of the year 211,048 195,496
Reclassification/adjustment to provision - 10,052
Recovery (provision for) impairment of assets (37,139)

------------
5,500

------------
Balance at the end of the year 173,909

=======
211,048

=======

 During the year, the Bank entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with one of the member countries for 
the settlement of the amounts due and received the first installment.   The Bank has reassessed the provision 
against the dues from that member country and has written back the excess provision to income.

12. INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY CAPITAL, NET

 The Bank undertakes equity investments in industrial and agro-industrial projects, Islamic banks and Islamic 
financial institutions of member countries. In accordance with the Bank’s policy, such investments should not 
exceed one third of the investee companies’ capital. The Bank’s policy is not to have control or exercise any 
significant influence over the financial and operating policies of the investees.

 Investments in equity capital at the end of Dhul Hijjah comprise the following:

1426H 1425H
Equity investments:

Listed 555,300 356,480
Unlisted 172,600

------------
165,664

------------
727,900 522,144

Less: Provision for impairment (Note 11) (51,755)
------------

(51,755)
------------

Investments in equity capital, net 676,145
=======

470,389
=======

 The movements in equity capital investments for the years ended Dhul Hijjah are summarized as follows:

1426H 1425H
Balance at the beginning of the year 470,389 327,366
Net unrealized gains 191,978 125,260
Additions during the year 13,778

------------
17,763

------------
Balance at the end of the year 676,145

=======
470,389

=======
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13. EXPORT FINANCING SCHEME

 Export Financing Scheme (the “Scheme”) is a special fund established under Article 22 of the Articles of 
Agreement of the Bank and pursuant to the decision taken by the Board of Governors in their annual meeting 
held in 1406H.  The objective of the Scheme is to promote the export of non-traditional goods, especially inter-
trade of goods originating from the participating countries.

 The Bank has contributed ID 75 million (57% of the paid-up capital) to the capital of the Scheme. The subscribed 
capital of the Scheme at end of Dhul Hijjah 1426H is ID 320.25 million (1425H - ID 320 million) and the called-
up installments at end of Dhul Hijjah 1426H are ID 159.5 million (1425H - ID 159.25 million) of which ID 0.25 
million were paid during the year (1425H - ID 0.26 million).

 The Board of Governors of IDB during their 30th meeting held on 17 Jumad Awwal 1426H (24 June 2005) 
approved the establishment of the International Islamic Trade Finance Corporation to focus primarily on trade 
finance operation for the IDB Group. The operations of the scheme shall be merged into the new corporation, 
which will be under the management of IDB. The net assets of the scheme shall be purchased by IDB on the 
adjusted net book value method as of the date of the purchase and all the participants of the Scheme shall become 
members of the new corporation. The contribution of each Participant in the capital of the corporation shall be 
equal to its entitlement in the assets of the Scheme.

14. ISLAMIC BANKS’ PORTFOLIO FOR INVESTMENT AND DEVELOPMENT

 Islamic Banks’ Portfolio for Investment and Development (the “Portfolio”) is a trust fund established within 
the framework of Article 23 of the Articles of Agreement of the Bank and pursuant to the Memorandum of 
Understanding signed by the Islamic banks in Istanbul on 27 Rajab 1407H (27 March 1987).  The objective of 
the Portfolio is to mobilize the liquidity available with Islamic banks and financial institutions and the savings 
of individual investors, and channel them to finance trade of Islamic countries in accordance with the principles 
of Shari’ah.

 The authorized capital of the Portfolio is split into fixed (initial) capital and variable (subsequent) capital.  The 
authorized fixed capital is US$ 100 million, of which the Bank holds US$ 49.67 million (1425H - US$ 49.67 
million). The authorized variable capital is US$ 280 million and is called and repaid according to specific 
projects identified for financing by the Portfolio. The Bank’s investment in the capital of the Portfolio at end of 
Dhul Hijjah is as follows.

1426H
Subscribed amount Paid-up amount

US$
thousands

US$ thousands ID thousands

Fixed capital 49,674 49,674 39,699
Variable capital 177,000

------------
 -

------------
 -

------------
Total 226,674

=======
49,674

=======
39,699

=======

 As per the Portfolio’s regulations, the Bank has undertaken to purchase the fixed capital of the Portfolio from 
other member banks and financial institutions if offered for sale up to a maximum of 50% of such shares at the 
book value of those shares at the date of the sale.
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 The Bank manages the Portfolio as a Mudarib.  The Muradib fee payable to the Bank is 15% of income before 
Mudarib share.  However, if the return on equity exceeds benchmarks based on 12 months LIBOR, a stratified 
Mudarib fee over and above 15% of income will be introduced, with a corresponding reduction in the rate of 
dividends.  

 The Bank makes advances to and receives repayments from operations on behalf of the special and trust funds.  
Compensation is paid based on the average earnings on investment in short-term commodity transactions and on 
deposits for the period during which any amount is outstanding.

 The Participant’s Committee of the Portfolio during its meting number 26 held on June 22, 2005, discussed the 
matter of establishing International Islamic Trade Finance Corporation to focus primarily on the trade finance 
operations for the IDB Group. The operations of the Portfolio shall be merged into the new corporation, which 
will be under management of IDB. Subsequently, the Executive Committee of the Portfolio in its meeting 
number 34 held on November 25, 2005 approved the purchase by IDB of the net assets of the Portfolio based on 
the adjusted net book value method as of the date of the purchase which is expected to be June 2006. Members 
of the Portfolio who agree to join the new corporation based on the adjusted net book value as of the date of the 
purchase will have their equity transferred to the new corporation. The remaining members shall be paid out by 
IDB.

15. ISLAMIC CORPORATION FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE PRIVATE SECTOR

 Islamic Corporation for the Development of the Private Sector (the “Corporation”) is an international specialized 
institution established pursuant to the Articles of Agreement signed and ratified by its members. The Corporation 
commenced operations following the inaugural meeting of the General Assembly held on 6 Rabi Thani 1421H (8 
July 2000). According to the Articles of Agreement establishing the Corporation, the objective of the Corporation 
is to promote, in accordance with the principles of Shari’ah, the economic development of its member countries 
by encouraging the establishment, expansion and modernization of private enterprises producing goods and 
services in such a way as to supplement the activities of the Bank. As of end of Dhul Hijjah 1426H, the Bank 
owns 91% (1425H - 91%) of the paid-up capital of the Corporation.

16. OTHER INVESTMENTS, NET

 Other investments at the end of Dhul Hijjah comprise the following:

1426H 1425H
Lease & Real Estate Funds 10,309 11,040
Investment in Sukuks 60,838

----------
3,328

----------
71,147 14,368

Less: Provision for impairment (note 11) (3,194)
------------

(4,934)
------------

Other investments, net 67,953
=======

9,434
=======
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 Lease and real estate funds are investments managed by third party Islamic institutions in which the Bank has 
made specific investments as part of its management of liquidity.

 Investment in Sukuk certificates as of 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H represents a share in the investment in Sukuks 
issued by the various governments and certain other entities (1425 – Sukuks issued by the Government of 
Pakistan).

17. PROPERTY AND OPERATING EQUIPMENT, NET

 Property and operating equipment at the end of Dhul Hijjah comprise the following:

Land Buildings Furniture,
equipment

and vehicles

Total

Cost
At 1 Muharram 1426H 13,043 103,988 24,958 141,989
Additions during the year - 

------------
25

------------
475

------------
500

------------
13,043

------------
104,013

------------
25,433

------------
142,489

------------
Less share of assets allocated to Special
  Account Resources Waqf Fund:
At 1 Muharram 1426H - (31,851) (5,325) (37,176)
Allocations during the year - 

------------
-

------------
(3)

------------
(3)

------------
- 

------------
(31,851)

------------
(5,328)

------------
(37,179)

------------
At 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H 13,043

------------
72,162

------------
20,105

------------
105,310

------------
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 Muharram 1426H - 38,442 22,861 61,303
Charge for the year -

------------
2,294

------------
1,022

------------
3,316

------------
-

------------
40,736

------------
23,883

------------
64,619

------------
Less: share of accumulated depreciation
  allocated to Special Account Resources  
    Waqf Fund:
At 1 Muharram 1426H - (9,008) (4,889) (13,897)
Allocation during the year -

------------
(796)

------------
(195)

------------
(991)

------------
-

------------
(9,804)

------------
(5,084)

------------
(14,888)

------------
At 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H -

------------
30,932

------------
18,799

------------
49,731

------------
Net book value:
30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H 13,043

======
41,230

======
1,306

======
55,579

======
30 Dhul Hijjah 1425H 13,043

======
42,703

======
1,661

======
57,407

======
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Included in property and operating equipment is an amount of ID 13 million, which represents the estimated 
market value of land, donated to the Bank by the Government of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, at the time of 
donation (see Note 22).

The cost of the Bank’s permanent headquarters building was funded out of the Bank’s ordinary resources and 
out of special assistance accounts resources.  The cost and depreciation of the permanent headquarters building 
and related furniture and equipment were split according to the following proportions:

The Bank - Ordinary Capital Resources 65%
Special Account Resources Waqf Fund 35%

Also, a portion of other equipment cost and its related depreciation are charged to Islamic Research and Training 
Institute and Special Assistance Administration, which are part of the Special Account Resources Waqf Fund.

18. ACCRUALS AND OTHER LIABILITIES

 Accruals and other liabilities at the end of Dhul Hijjah comprise the following:

1426H 1425H
Investment deposits 61,117 92,255
IDB Group current accounts (note 27) 38,934 49,525 
Accruals 30,139 21,612
Other liabilities 514,240

------------
53,782

------------
Total 644,430

=======
217,174

=======

 The Bank has entered into commodity purchase and sale agreements with certain banks.  Under the terms of 
the agreements, the Bank has purchased certain commodities from these banks on deferred payment basis and 
has simultaneously sold these through those banks to third parties.  Included in other liabilities above, is an 
outstanding balance of ID 500.191 million as of 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426 (30 January 2006) (30 Dhul Hijjah 1425: 
ID 53 million) which represents the purchase price including the accrued markup under these agreements.  The 
related finance cost for the year ended 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426 (30 January 2006) is ID 9,184   (30 Dhul Hijjah 1425: 
ID 95)

 Investment deposit scheme

 The Bank operates the investment deposit scheme to provide investors with an Islamic alternative for making 
short-term investments through participation in the financing of the Bank. The funds are intended to supplement 
the Bank’s own resources and are restricted for investment in the financing of foreign trade.

 Funds of ID 10.3 million at end of Dhul Hijjah 1426H (1425H - ID 37.40 million) relating to the Bank’s staff 
retirement and medical plans are invested in the investment deposit scheme.
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19. SUKUK  LIABILITY
 
 The Bank issued global Sukuk on 12 August 2003 and 22 June 2005 for USD 400 million (ID 267.58 million) 

and USD 500 million (ID 346.35) respectively by selling global Sukuk Certificates through special purpose 
companies established under the laws of Jersey, Channel Island.

 The Sukuk Certificates mature on 12 August 2008 and 22 June 2010 respectively and confer on certificate 
holders the right to receive periodic distribution amounts arising from certain Ijarah transactions which were 
originated by the Bank.  The Bank continues to service these assets, and guarantees as a third party, any shortfall 
in the scheduled installments.

 The Bank continues to recognize the Sukuk assets and records the amounts due to the holders of Sukuk Certificates 
as a liability in its financial statements.

 The finance cost for the year ended 29 Dhul Hijjah, 1426 (30 January 2006) is ID 19,034 (1425: ID 9,915 )

20. RETIREMENT BENEFITS

 The Bank has a defined Staff Retirement Benefit Plan that covers substantially all of its staff. In addition, the 
Bank provides medical retirement benefits for eligible active retired staff through its Post-Employment Medical 
Scheme.

 a) Staff Retirement Plan

 The main features of the plan are: (i) normal retirement age is the 60th anniversary of the participant’s birth; (ii) 
on retirement, the eligible retired employee is entitled to 2.5% of the highest average remuneration (basic salary 
plus cost of living allowance) for each year of pensionable service.

 The following table summarizes the cost of benefits associated with the Staff Retirement Plan for the years ended 
at the end of Dhul Hijjah:

1426H 1425H
Current service cost 5,338 5,124
Present value adjustment 5,164 4,746
Expected return on plan assets (3,994)

----------
(2,516)

----------
Net periodic pension cost 6,508

======
7,354

======
Actual loss on plan assets -

======
(1,634)

======
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 The following table summarizes the benefit obligations and plan assets at the end of Dhul Hijjah.

1426H 1425H
Benefit obligations (94,474) (86,070)
Fair value of plan assets 71,930

----------
63,911

----------
Plan benefit obligations in excess of plan assets (22,544) (22,159)
Net actuarial gain from past experience different from that assumed and 
from changes in assumptions

11,810 11,402

Remaining unrecognized net transition liability -
----------

2,289
----------

Accrued pension cost 10,734
======

(8,468)
======

Movements in accrued pension cost during the years ended at end of Dhul Hijjah are as follows:

1426H 1425H
Balance at the beginning of the year 8,468 5,730
Net periodic pension cost 6,508 7,354
Contributions (4,242)

----------
(4,616)

----------
Balance at the end of the year 10,734

======
8,468

======

The actuarial assumptions used are based on financial market rates of return, past experience and management’s 
best estimate of the future benefits and economic conditions. Changes in these assumptions will impact future 
benefit costs and obligations. The assumptions used in determining the expense and benefit obligations are as 
follows:

1426H 1425H
Discount rate of return      6% 6.0%
Expected return on plan assets 4.2% 4.2%
Rate of compensation increase 3% 3.0%

b) Post-Employment Medical Benefit Scheme

Effective 1 Muharram 1421H, the Bank established the medical benefit scheme for retirees vide resolution 
BED/18/10/418 (176) dated 18 Shawwal 1418H. In accordance with the said resolution, the Post-Employment 
Medical Benefit Scheme is to be funded jointly by the Bank and staff at 1% and 0.5%, respectively.

The purpose of the Post-Employment Medical Benefit Scheme is to pay a monthly amount to eligible retiree 
staff towards their medical expenses. The administration of the Post-Employment Medical Benefit Scheme is 
independent of the Staff Retirement Benefit Plan and contributions are invested in a similar manner to that of the 
Staff Retirement Benefit Plan under the management of the Pension Investment Management Committee. The 
monthly entitlements payable for each retiree is computed according to the following formula: 

Monthly highest average remuneration x 5 (being minimum contribution period) x 0.18%.
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21. PAID-UP CAPITAL

 The capital of the Bank at the end of Dhul Hijjah comprises the following:

1426H 1425H
Authorized: 1,500,000 shares of ID 10,000 each 
 (1425H - 1,500,000 shares of ID 10,000 each) 15,000,000

========
15,000,000
========

Issued: 810,000 shares of ID 10,000 each
(1425H - 810,000 shares of ID 10,000 each) 8,100,000 8,100,000
Issued shares not subscribed (110,600)

------------
(139,290)
------------

Subscribed capital 7,989,400     7,960,710
Share capital not yet called (5,224,270) (5,198,080)
Installments not yet due (20,895)

------------
(25,085)

------------
Called-up capital 2,744,235    2,737,545
Installments due, not yet paid (8,295)

------------
(12,169)

------------
Paid-up capital 2,735,940

=======
2,725,376
=======

22. CAPITAL RESERVE

 The capital reserve comprises the estimated value of land and the cost of certain of the Bank’s buildings that 
were donated by the Government of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and SR 50 million (ID 9.6 million) received 
as contribution from the Government of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia in connection with the construction of the 
permanent headquarters building.

23. GENERAL RESERVE

 In accordance with Section 1 of Article 42 of the Articles of Agreement of the Bank, the annual net income of 
the Bank is required to be transferred to the general reserve, when approved by the Board of Governors, until 
this reserve equals 25% of the Bank’s subscribed capital.  Any excess of the net income over the above limit is 
available for distribution to the member countries.
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24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of Dhul Hijjah comprise the following:

1426H 1425H
Cash at banks 94,770 61,493
Commodity placements with banks  (note 2k) 1,175,501

------------
302,216

------------
Total 1,207,271

=======
363,709

=======

25. UNDISBURSED COMMITMENTS

 Undisbursed commitments at the end of Dhul Hijjah comprise the following:

1426H 1425H
Murabaha financing 986,533 803,475
Installment sales financing and Istisna’a assets 1,656,437 1,400,055
Loans 1,113,279 1,036,857
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek assets 565,415 421,539
Investments in equity capital 10,980 31,593
Investment in Export Financing Scheme - 75,000
Investment in Islamic Banks’ Portfolio for Investment and Development - 33,462
Investment in Islamic Corporation for the Development of the Private Sector 69,271 66,491
Investment in Awqaf Properties Investment Fund 2,771

------------
5,319

-----------
Total 4,404,686

=======
3,873,791
=======

26. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES THROUGH IDB - UNIT INVESTMENT FUND

 The Bank’s Unit Investment Fund (the “Fund”) is a trust fund established under Article 23 of the Articles of 
Agreement of the Bank.  The purpose of the Fund is to participate in the economic development of the member 
countries through the pooling of the savings of institutions and individual investors, and to invest these savings 
in producing projects in the said member countries. The Bank has agreed to extend the guarantee to cover all the 
projects financed by the Fund.

 The Fund’s management is supervised by an Executive Committee, which is headed by the President of the 
Bank.  The Bank manages the Fund as a Mudarib and charges a Mudarib fee of 15% of the Fund’s net income, 
which is included in the statement of income under Mudarib fees from trust funds.

 The Bank has outstanding guarantees at the end of Dhul Hijjah 1426H of ID 0.63 million  (1425H - ID 2.25 
million) in respect of projects sold to the Fund and of ID 93.20 million (1425H - ID 149.8 million) in respect of 
other operations, which are covered by counter guarantees acceptable to the Bank.
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27. RELATED PARTY BALANCES

 In the ordinary course of its activities, the Bank transacts business with related parties as described in Note 1. 
The terms of these transactions are approved by the Bank’s management.  The net balances due from (to) IDB 
group entities at the end of Dhul Hijjah are as follows:

1426H 1425H
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

World Waqf Foundation 387 - - -
Islamic Solidarity Fund 2,075 - - -
Awqaf Properties Investment Fund - (3,910)     - (2,236)
Export Financing Scheme  29,441 -  62,464 -
Islamic Banks’ Portfolio for Investment and  
Development

- (743)   1,678 -

IDB - Unit Investment Fund - (14,492) - (10,262)
Islamic Corporation for the Insurance of   
Investment and Export Credit

4,564 - - (5,868)

Special Account Resources Waqf Fund 43,755 - - (31,159)
IDB Pension Fund 8,579 - 6,287 -
IDB Medical Fund 190 - - -
Organization of Islamic Conference Countries - - 1,321 -
Al-Aqsa and Al Quds Funds - (4,350) 2,795 -
Islamic Corporation for the Development of 
the Private Sector – ICD

- (2,076) - -

Badea 93 - 3,868 -  
Saudi Development Fund -

-----------
(13,363)

------------
-

-----------
-

-----------
Total 89,084

======
(38,934)
======

78,413
======

(49,525)
======
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28. NET ASSETS IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES

 The net assets in foreign currencies (in thousands of ID equivalent) at the end of Dhul Hijjah are as follows:

1426H 1425H
United States Dollar 468,000 508,549
Euro 257,185 434,933
Pound Sterling 149,076 175,111
Japanese Yen 158,393 160,860
Other currencies 37,419 12,410

29. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ACCORDING TO THEIR RESPECTIVE
MATURITY PERIODS OR EXPECTED PERIODS TO CASH CONVERSION 

30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H
Maturity period determined Maturity 

period not 
determined

Total
Less than 3 

months
3 to 12 
months

1 to 5 Years Over 5 Years

Total assets 1,860,921
=======

455,578
=======

733,766
=======

209,058
=======

2,631,327
=======

5,890,650
=======

Total liabilities 644,632
=======

-
=======

627,416
=======

-
=======

-
=======

1,271,848
=======

30 Dhul Hijjah 1425H

Total assets 674,104
=======

414,265
=======

1,141,672
=======

377,569
=======

2,152,444
=======

4,760,054
=======

Total liabilities 106,343
=======

113,275     
=======

265,966
=======

-
=======

-
=======

485,584
=======
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(In Thousands of Islamic Dinars)

30. CONCENTRATION OF ASSETS

 Analysis of assets by economic sector is as follows:

30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H
Public 
utilities

Transport
& telecom

Agriculture Industry & 
mining

Social 
services

Others Total

Total assets 984,028
=======

520,343
=======

320,238
=======

451,341
=======

514,656
=======

3,100,044
=======

5,890,650
=======

30 Dhul Hijjah 1425H
Total assets 763,795

=======
497,562
=======

316,020
=======

597,535
=======

528,417
=======

2,056,725
=======

4,760,054
=======

 
The geographical locations of assets are as follows:

30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H
Member countries Non member 

countries
Total

Asia Africa Europe
Total assets 4,308,691

=======
1,382,702
=======

26,936
=======

172,321
=======

5,890,650
=======

30 Dhul Hijjah 1425H
Total assets 3,312,657

=======
1,355,312
=======

11,820
=======

80,265
=======

4,760,054
=======

 
The geographical locations of assets reflect the countries in which the beneficiaries of the assets are located.

31. ZAKAT AND TAX TREATMENT

 Since the Bank’s equity is part of Baitul Mal (public money), it is not subject to Zakat or tax.
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32. RISK MANAGEMENT

 The Bank has a Risk Management Office (RMO) fully independent from all business departments as well as 
other entities of the Bank.  The RMO is responsible for dealing with all risk policies, guidelines and procedures 
with a view to achieving sound, safe and sustainable low risk profile for the Bank through the identification, 
measurement and monitoring of all types of risks inherent in its activities.  The Bank has also established a 
Risk Management Committee which is responsible for reviewing the risk management policies, procedures, 
guidelines and defining the Bank’s risk management framework and appetite, with a view to ensuring that there 
is appropriate controls on all major risks resulting from the Bank’s financial transactions.

a) Credit risk

 For all classes of financial assets held by the Bank, the maximum credit risk exposure to the Bank is their carrying 
value as disclosed in the statement of financial position.  The assets which subject the Bank to credit risk, 
principally consist of bank balances, Commodity Placements, Murabaha financing, Istisna’a assets, Installment 
sales financing, Loans and Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek.  The Bank’s liquid fund investments portfolio is managed 
by the Treasury Department and comprise deals with reputable banks.  Murabaha financing, Istisna’a assets, 
Installment sales financing, Loans and Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek are covered, in most cases, by commercial 
bank guarantees from banks whose ratings are acceptable to the Bank per its policies, or sovereign guarantees 
from Member Countries.  The Bank benefits from preferred creditor status on sovereign financing, which gives 
it priority over other creditors in the event of default thus constituting a strong protection against credit losses. 
Historically, The Bank has had a very low level of overdues.  The management is of the opinion that, with the 
exception of what has already been provided for, additional significant credit loss is unlikely to occur.

b)  Currency risk

 The Bank does not trade in currencies.  Therefore, it is not exposed to currency trading risk.  The investment 
portfolio is held in major currencies in line with the composition of the Islamic Dinar basket, namely US 
Dollars, Sterling Pound, Euro and Japanese Yen.  The Bank has a conservative policy whereby the currency 
composition of the portfolio is monitored and adjusted regularly.

c)  Liquidity risk

 To guard against this risk, the Bank follows a conservative approach by maintaining high liquidity levels invested 
in cash, cash equivalents, commodity placements and Murabaha financing with short-term maturity of three to 
twelve months.

d)  Geographical risk

 The Bank carries on business mainly with Member Countries in Asia and Africa.  Due to the relatively high 
country risk of some of the countries in these continents, the Bank is exposed to potential loss arising from its 
exposure to these countries.  The Bank’s exposure to any member Country is diversified with a view to avoid 
excessive concentration of risk in any particular Member Countries by setting maximum exposure country 
limits.

33. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

 Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.
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 DELOITTE & TOUCHE
BAKR ABULKHAIR & CO
P.O. Box 442
Jeddah 21411
Saudi Arabia

ASSOCIATED ACCOUNTANTS
MEMBER OF BDO INTERNATIONAL

P.O. Box 60930
Riyadh 11555
Saudi Arabia

AUDITORS’ REPORT

Your Excellencies the Chairman and Members of the Board of Governors
Islamic Development Bank

We have audited the accompanying statement of financial position of Islamic Development Bank - Special Account 
Resources Waqf Fund (the “Waqf Fund”) as of 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H (30 January 2006) and the related statements of 
activities, cash flows and changes in resources for the year then ended. These financial statements and the Waqf Fund’s 
undertaking to operate in accordance with Islamic Shari’ah are the responsibility of the Waqf Fund’s management.  
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standards for Islamic Financial Institutions. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of Islamic Development Bank - Special Account Resources Waqf Fund as of 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H (30 January 2006), 
and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the Financial Accounting 
Standards issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) and the 
Shari’ah rules and principles as determined by the Shari’ah Board of the Waqf Fund.

We also note that the Waqf Fund has followed other accounting standards with respect to accounting measurement, 
recognition, and presentation and disclosure matters not covered by the AAOIFI standards, which are disclosed in 
Note 2 (a).
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ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL ACCOUNT RESOURCES WAQF FUND

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As of 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H (30 January 2006)

(In Thousands of Islamic Dinars)

Notes 1426H  1425H 
ASSETS
Cash at banks 30,491 11,594
Placements and fixed deposits with banks 417,652 400,129
Murabaha and other funds – net 3 152,594 108,242
Receivable from IDB - Ordinary Capital Resources 4 - 31,159
Accrued income and other assets 13,601 5,208
Investments in IDB - Unit Investment Fund:

Specific deposit 5 628 2,018
Investments in units 5 76,244 73,185

Investment in Islamic Corporation for the Insurance of 
investment and Export Credit (ICIIEC)

6 61,815 61,491

Investment in Islamic Ijarah Sukuk 7 147,621 71,258
Other investments 8 44,147 25,930
Property and equipment – net 9 22,343 23,351
Loans – net 10 99,593

------------
93,488

------------
TOTAL ASSETS 1,066,729

=======
907,053

=======
LIABILITIES AND RESOURCES
LIABILITIES
Payable to IDB - Ordinary Capital Resources 4 43,755 -
Accruals and other liabilities 11 108,577 15,538
Specific deposit from IDB – Unit Investment Fund 10,872

----------
11,770

----------
Total liabilities 163,204

----------
27,308

----------
RESOURCES
Waqf Fund principal amount 12 742,171 733,694
Special assistance 13 48,177 44,177
Special account for least developed member countries 14 113,177

----------
101,874
----------

Total resources 903,525
----------

879,745
----------

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND RESOURCES 1,066,729
=======

907,053
=======

The financial statements were authorized for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Executive 
directors on 5 Safar 1427H (5 March 2006).

The attached notes from 1 through 22 form an integral part of these financial statements.



211

SPECIAL ACCOUNT RESOURCES WAQF FUND

IDB ANNUAL REPORT 1426H

APPENDIX - I

ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL ACCOUNT RESOURCES WAQF FUND

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended As of 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H (30 January 2006)

(In Thousands of Islamic Dinars)

Notes 1426H 1425H 
Income from:

Placements and fixed deposits with banks 7,397 6,871
Murabaha and other funds 3 41,953 9,491
Gains on managed investments - 2,216
Specific deposit from IDB - Unit Investment Fund 5 (368) (134)
IDB - Investments in units 5 1,433 1,043
Investment in ICIIEC 6 324 (285)
Investment in Islamic Ijarah Sukuk 7 6,462 1,365

Foreign currency exchange losses, net (436)
-----------

(244)
-----------

Total income 56,765
-----------

20,323
-----------

Expenses:
Staff costs (367) (424)
Finance cost 11 (999) -
Other -

-----------
(760)

-----------
Total expenses (1,366)

-----------
(1,184)

-----------
Net income 55,399

=======
19,139

=======
Allocated to:

Waqf Fund principal amount 2 (n) 8,310 2,871
Special assistance 2 (n) 36,009 12,440
Special account for least developed member countries 2 (n) 11,080

-----------
3,828

-----------
55,399

=======
19,139

=======

The attached notes from 1 through 22 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL ACCOUNT RESOURCES WAQF FUND

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended As of 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H (30 January 2006)

(In Thousands of Islamic Dinars)

1426H 1425H 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income 55,399 19,139
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by  operating 
activities:

Depreciation 1,028 1,107
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Murabaha and other funds (44,352) (16,093)
Accrued income and other assets (8,393) 789
Accruals and other liabilities 93,039 (9,566)
Loans (6,105)

-----------
(4,773)

-----------
Net cash provided by (used in) operations 90,616

-----------
(9,397)

-----------
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Placements with banks having maturity more than three months, net 96,245 (104,614)
IDB – Unit Investment Fund:

Specific deposit 1,390 1,277
Investments in units (3,059) (12,260)

Investment in ICIIEC (324) 285
Investment in Islamic Ijarah Sukuk (76,363) (42,075)
Managed investments - 183,501
Other investments (18,217) (2,579)
Specific deposit from IDB - Unit Investment Fund (898) (1,348)
Additions to property and equipment (20) (137)
Special assistance program expenses (11,923)

-----------
(9,537)

-----------
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (13,169)

-----------
12,513

-----------
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Changes in payable to/ receivable from IDB - Ordinary Capital Resources 74,914 (37,183)
Income transferred from IDB - Ordinary Capital Resources 1,115 629
Net grants for causes and contribution from Islamic Development Bank for 
technical assistance grants from Special Assistance Account

(20,811)
-----------

(18,165)
-----------

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 55,218
-----------

(54,719)
-----------

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 132,665 (51,603)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year (Note 16) 307,109

-----------
358,712

-----------
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 16) 439,774

=======
307,109

=======

The attached notes from 1 through 22 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL ACCOUNT RESOURCES WAQF FUND

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN RESOURCES
For the Year Ended As of 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H (30 January 2006)

(In Thousands of Islamic Dinars)

Notes 1426H 1425H 
Waqf Fund principal amount resources:

Balance at beginning of year 733,694 730,729
Attributable net income for the year 8,310 2,871
Share of income transferred from IDB - Ordinary Capital 
Resources 15 167

------------
94

------------
Balance at end of year 742,171

------------
733,694

------------
Special assistance resources:

Balance at beginning of year 44,177 59,030
Attributable net income for the year 36,009 12,440
Share of income transferred from IDB - Ordinary Capital 
Resources

15 725 409

Grants for causes 13 (24,410) (21,603)
Program expenses (11,923) (9,537)
Contribution from IDB- Ordinary Capital Resources for 
technical assistance grants 3,599

------------
3,438

------------
Balance at end of year 48,177

------------
44,177

------------
Special account for least developed member countries resources:

Balance at beginning of year 101,874 97,920
Attributable net income for the year 11,080 3,828
Share of income transferred from IDB - Ordinary Capital 
Resources 15 223

------------
126

------------
Balance at end of year 113,177

------------
101,874

------------
Total resources 903,525

=======
879,745

=======

The attached notes from 1 through 22 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL ACCOUNT RESOURCES WAQF FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended As of 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H (30 January 2006)

1. INCORPORATION AND ACTIVITIES

 The Islamic Development Bank - Ordinary Capital Resources’ (the “Bank”) Special Account Resources Waqf 
Fund (the “Waqf Fund”) was established on 1 Muharram 1418H based on the Board of Governors’ Resolution 
No. BG/3-417. At that date, the entire uncommitted assets of the Special Account of the Bank were transferred 
to the Waqf Fund.

 The Governors’ Resolution, as subsequently amended by BG/4-420 and BED/28/12/ (192)/195, also stated that 
a certain percentage of the income for the Waqf Fund resources and the same percentage of the banking returns 
from the Bank’s investments in the international market shall be transferred to the principal amount of the Waqf 
Fund until it reaches one thousand million Islamic Dinars. At such time, the Board of Governors shall, upon 
recommendation of the Board of Executive Directors, determine the purpose for which the amounts in excess of 
one thousand million Islamic Dinars shall be used. Such percentage will be reviewed each year on the basis of 
annual income earned for that year (See Notes 2 (n) and 14).

 In 1417H, the Special Accounts of the Islamic Development Bank - Ordinary Capital Resources (“IDB - 
OCR”) consisted of the Special Reserve, Special Assistance and Special Account for Least Developed Member 
Countries. On 1 Muharram 1418H, the balances of these accounts in the books of IDB - OCR as of 29 Dhul 
Hijjah 1417H together with the related assets and liabilities were transferred to the Special Account Resources 
Waqf Fund. The balance of Special Reserve Account has been taken as the uncommitted resources of the Special 
Accounts and formed the balance of the Waqf Fund principal amount at 1 Muharram 1418H. The balances of the 
Special Assistance and Special Account for Least Developed Member Countries have been taken as committed 
resources of the Special Accounts and have been transferred to the Waqf Fund, but do not form part of the Waqf 
Fund principal amount. All assets of the Waqf Fund are comingled and are not distinguished between the Waqf 
Fund principal amount and the other committed resources of the Waqf Fund (see Note 21).

 The Waqf Fund is managed in accordance with its regulations by the Bank through a Board of Trustees. The 
regulations provide that the Bank’s Board of Executive Directors shall be the Board of Trustees. Its business 
activities are carried out through the Bank’s headquarters in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia.

 The financial statements of the Waqf Fund are expressed in thousands of Islamic Dinars. Islamic Dinar (ID) is the 
unit of account of the Waqf Fund and is equal to one Special Drawing Right (SDR) of the International Monetary 
Fund.

 The title of assets recorded in the financial statements as Waqf Fund assets is held with the Bank.

 As a fund of the Bank (an international institution), the Waqf Fund is not subject to an external regulatory 
authority.

 The Waqf Fund’s financial year is the lunar Hijra year.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Basis of preparation

 The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards issued by the 
Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) and the Shari’ah rules and 
principles as determined by the Shari’ah Advisory Board.  For matters, which are not covered by AAOIFI 
standards, the Waqf Fund uses the relevant standard issued or adopted by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (the IASB) and the relevant interpretation issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee of the IASB. 

 The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention as modified for the measurement at 
fair value of available-for-sale investments.

 

b) Translation of currencies

 Transactions in currencies other than the Islamic Dinar are recorded at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates 
of the respective transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
to Islamic Dinars on the basis of SDR rates declared by the International Monetary Fund at the date of the 
statement of financial position. Foreign currency exchange gains and losses are included in the statement of 
activities.

c) Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances and fixed deposits with banks having maturity of three 
months or less at the date of acquisition.

d) Revenue recognition

1. Fixed deposits with banks
 Return on deposits with banks is accrued evenly over the period of the deposits. The rate of return approximates 

the prevailing market rates.

2. Loans
 Loans, which are disbursed from the Waqf Fund resources, are income free, except for a service fee calculated to 

recover part of the administrative costs of the loans. The loans are administered by IDB - OCR and the service 
fees charged are included as part of its income.

3. Murabaha and other funds
 Income from investments in Murabaha and other funds is accrued on a time apportionment basis over the period 

from the date of actual disbursement of funds to the scheduled repayment dates of installments.

4. Managed investments
 Changes in the market value of managed investments are recorded as gains or losses in the statement of 

activities.

5.  Investments in Islamic Ijarah Sukuk
 Income from investment in Islamic Ijarah Sukuk is recognized as declared by the investee banks    and includes 

accretions of any discounts, net of amortization of any premiums on acquisition.

e) Loans

 Loans represent amounts disbursed in respect of projects plus loan service fees due, less repayment received 
relating to the outstanding capital portion of the loan as determined by the loan agreement. The accounting 
policy with regards to the provision for impairment is further discussed in Note 2 (o).
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f) Murabaha and other funds

 Investments in Murabaha and other funds are stated at cost, less provision for impairment. The accounting policy 
with regards to the provision for impairment is further discussed in Note 2 (o).

g) Investments in IDB - Unit Investment Fund

 Investments in IDB - Unit Investment Fund are considered as trading and are recorded at market value with 
unrealized gain or loss included in income.

h) Investment in ICIIEC

 Investment in ICIIEC is not consolidated because the control of ICIIEC does not rest with the Waqf Fund. 
Accordingly, this investment is accounted for on the equity method.

i) Investment in Islamic Ijarah Sukuk

 The investment in Islamic Ijarah Sukuk is carried at amortised cost, less provision for impairment. Amortised 
cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition.

j) Other investments

 Other investments are held as available-for-sale and are initially recorded at cost and then remeasured to fair 
value. Any unrealized gains arising from the change in their fair value are recognized as a separate component of 
resources. Whereas, unrealized losses resulting from re-measurement at fair value are recognized in the separate 
component of resources to the extent of the available balance.  Excess of unrealized loss over the available 
balance is recognized in the statement of activities.  In case there are unrealized losses that have been recognized 
in the statement of activities in previous years, the unrealized gains related to the current year are recognized in 
the statement of activities to the extent of such previous losses.

k) Property and equipment

 The Waqf Fund is allocated 35% of the costs and depreciation of the IDB headquarters buildings and relevant 
furniture and equipment.  Also, the Waqf Fund owns certain property and equipment through the Islamic Research 
and Training Institute (IRTI) and other programs. All these assets are depreciated using the straight-line method 
over the following periods:

Permanent headquarters buildings 40 years
Pre-fabricated buildings 6 2/3 years
Furniture and equipment 4 to 10 years

   
 In the year of acquisition, additions are depreciated at 50% of the normal rate. Maintenance and repair costs are 

expensed as incurred.

l) Income allocated by IDB - OCR

 Income on IDB balances with banks (conventional investments) and other investments balances, which are 
considered by IDB management to be forbidden by Shari’ah, are not included in the income statement of IDB 
- OCR but are transferred by IDB to the Waqf Fund in accordance with the Board of Governors’ Resolutions No. 
BG/3-417 and BG/4-420.
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 According to the Board of Governors’ resolution No. BG/3-425, and the Board of Executive Directors’ resolution 
No. BED/BG/4-425, US$ 5.0 million (ID 3.4 million) were allocated from the 1424H net income of IDB-OCR 
for the financing of 1425H Technical Assistance Operations in the form of grants. A similar amount of US$ 5.0 
million (ID 3.59 million) was allocated from the 1424H net income of IDB - OCR in accordance with the Board 
of Governors’ resolution No. BG/3-425, and the Board of Executive Directors’ resolution No. BED3-426 for the 
financing of 1426H Technical Assistance Operations in the form of grants.

 
m) Allocation of Waqf Fund income

 As stipulated in the Waqf Fund’s regulations, the net income of the Waqf Fund is allocated to the Waqf Fund 
Resources as follows:

1426H 1425H
Waqf Fund principal 15% 15%
Special Assistance 65% 65%
Special Account for Least Developed Member Countries 20% 20%

The allocation of percentage of income from the Waqf Fund resources is reviewed each year on the basis  
of annual income earned for that year.

n) Impairment of financial assets

 Operational assets:
 The Bank determines the provision for impairment losses based on an assessment of incurred losses. It takes into 

account the losses that it suffers as a result of rescheduling the dues from certain countries and from settlement 
plans mutually agreed with the beneficiaries due to its participation in the debt relief initiative for the Heavily 
Indebted Poor Countries (HIPC). The loss results from the difference between the carrying amount of the asset 
and the net present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the implicit rate of return in the agreement. 
The impairment provision is periodically adjusted based on a review of the prevailing circumstances.  In addition, 
a portfolio provision is created for losses where there is objective evidence that unidentified losses are present in 
the portfolio at the balance sheet date. These are estimated based on country risk ratings, the current economic 
conditions and the default pattern that are embedded in the components of the portfolio. 

 Adjustments to the provision are recorded as a charge or addition to income. In determining the adequacy of 
the provision, the Bank takes into account the net present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the 
financial instruments’ implicit rate of return.

 Other financial assets:
 An assessment is made at each financial position date to determine whether there is objective evidence that a 

financial asset or a group of financial assets may be impaired. The amount of the impairment losses for financial 
assets carried at amortized cost is calculated as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and its 
estimated fair value.

 For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the carrying amount of the asset is adjusted either directly or 
through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the adjustment is included in the statement of income 
upon impairment
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(In Thousands of Islamic Dinars)
3. MURABAHA AND OTHER FUNDS, NET

 The Board of Executive Directors of the Bank, on 16 Rabi Thani 1424H (16 June 2003) and on 25 Dhul Qa’da 
1421H (19 February 2001) approved the allocation of US$ 364 million (ID 242.03 million) from the Waqf Fund, 
to be invested in syndicated and co-financed Murabaha, installment sale and leasing operations through Islamic 
Banks’ Portfolio for Investment and Development (the “Portfolio”), a trust fund of the Bank. The Portfolio is 
acting as Mudarib for the Waqf Fund and is entitled to an agreed management fee. The amounts invested by the 
Waqf Fund at the end of Dhul Hijjah are as follows:

1426H 1425H
Syndicated Murabaha and other funds 99,457 87,565
Mudarabah and equity funds 53,137

----------
21,371

----------
152,594 108,936

Less: Provision for impairment -
----------

(694)
----------

Murabaha and other funds – net 152,594
======

108,242
======

4. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 During the ordinary course of its business, the Waqf Fund has certain transactions with IDB - OCR relating to 
investments and realization of investments made through the inter-fund account between the Waqf Fund and 
the Bank. The balance due to IDB-OCR as at 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H is ID 43.8 million (1425H – due from IDB 
- OCR of ID 31.3 million).

5. IDB - UNIT INVESTMENT FUND

         Specific deposit

 The Bank had assigned in prior years certain of its lease and installment sales contracts denominated in ID to 
the Waqf Fund. In order to mitigate any foreign currency risk on the Waqf Fund’s receivables relating to these 
contracts, the UIF had placed in 1412H a deposit in ID and simultaneously the Waqf Fund invested with the UIF 
an equivalent value deposit in US Dollars. These deposits have been invested on a rollover basis for hedging 
against the Waqf Fund’s ID assets.  The rates of return on those deposits are negotiated on a six monthly basis.

 Investment in units

 IDB - Unit Investment Fund (“UIF”) is a trust fund established under Article 23 of the Articles of Agreement of 
the Bank. The purpose of the Fund is to participate in the economic development of member countries through 
the pooling of the savings of institutions and individual investors, and to invest these savings in producing 
projects in the said member countries. The units of UIF are quoted on the Bahrain stock exchange and the Bank 
supports the market in these units by agreeing to purchase units available for sale in the market.
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6. INVESTMENT IN ICIIEC

 ICIIEC was established on 1 August 1994 by the Bank. The objective of ICIIEC is to enlarge the scope of trade 
transactions and the flow of investments among member countries of the Organization of the Islamic 

 
 Conference by providing: a) export credit insurance to cover the non-payment of export receivables; and b) 

investment insurance against country risks.

 The authorized capital of ICIIEC is ID 100 million, divided into 100,000 shares of ID 1,000 each.  The subscribed 
capital of ICIIEC at 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H ID 97.24 (1425H-ID 96.9 million, with called-up installments of ID 
73.56 million (1425H- ID 73.5 million), of which ID 72.7million were paid (1425H-72.4 million).  

 The Waqf Fund has subscribed in and paid for 50,000 shares.

 The movements in the investment in ICIIEC for the years ended Dhul Hijjah are summarized as follows:

1426H 1425H
Balance at beginning of year 61,491 61,776
Share of profit (loss) during the year 324

------------
(285)

------------
Balance at end of year 61,815

=======
61,491

=======

7. INVESTMENT IN ISLAMIC IJARAH SUKUK

 Investment in Sukuk certificates as of 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H represents a share in the investment in Sukuks 
issued by the various governments and certain other entities.

8. OTHER INVESTMENTS

 Other investments at the end of Dhul Hijjah are summarized as follows:

1426H 1425H
Infrastructure Fund 42,768 24,551
OIC - Network SDN BHD 1,379

-----------
1,379

-----------
Total 44,147

======
 25,930

======

 
 Investment in the Infrastructure Fund is classified as available for sale and represents investment in IDB 

Infrastructure Fund LLP (the “Fund”), a limited liability partnership incorporated in the Kingdom of Bahrain, 
promoted by the Bank. The primary objective of the Fund is to promote the use of Islamic Finance in infrastructure 
projects and seek long-term capital appreciation through participation in such projects. The Fund has invested 
in several such long-term projects during 1425H. The total capital committed by the partners to the Fund is US$ 
730.50 million (ID 506.00 million). The Bank has committed US$ 100 million (ID 69.20 million) of which US$ 
61.74 million (ID 42.70 million) was paid as of 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H. The investment is currently stated at cost, 
as fair value cannot be reliably measured.
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 The investment in OIC - Network SDN BHD represents an investment in a Malaysia based Fund, which is still 

in the development stage.

9. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

 The cost of the permanent headquarters buildings and other related furniture and equipment was financed out of 
the Bank’s Ordinary Capital Resources and out of the Waqf Fund. The cost of the property and equipment and 
its related depreciation were split according to the following proportions:

IDB - Ordinary Capital Resources 65%
 Waqf Fund 35%

 At 1 Muharram 1418H, the Bank transferred 35% of its share in the property and equipment to the Waqf Fund. 
Such assets, together with other assets owned by IRTI and other programs, at the end of Dhul Hijjah are comprised 
of the following:

1425H Addition/charge 1426H
Cost
Buildings 34,443 - 34,443
Furniture and equipment 6,485

----------
20

----------
6,505

----------
Total 40,928 20 40,948
Accumulated depreciation
Buildings 11,599 796 12,395
Furniture and equipment 5,978

----------
232

----------
6,210

----------
Total 17,577

----------
1,028

----------
18,605

----------
Net book value at year end 23,351

======
22,343

======

10. LOANS, NET

 Loans at the end of Dhul Hijjah comprise the following:

1426H 1425H
Loans 110,909 99,638
Provision for impairment (11,316)

----------
(6,150)

----------
Loans – net 99,593

======
93,488

======
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11. ACCRUALS AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Accruals and other liabilities at the end of Dhul Hijjah comprise the following:

1426H 1425H
Contribution for Bosnia Fund 54 750
Accrued expenses and others 2,946 1,746
Other liabilities 105,577

------------
13,042

------------
Total 108,577

=======
15,538

=======

The Bank on behalf of the fund has entered into commodity purchase and sale agreements with certain banks.  
Under the terms of the agreements, the Bank has purchased certain commodities from these banks on deferred 
payment basis and has simultaneously sold these through those banks to third parties.  The other liabilities above 
represent the purchase price including the accrued markup under these agreements.  The related finance cost for 
the year ended 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426 (30 January 2006) is ID 999.

12. WAQF FUND PRINCIPAL AMOUNT

Waqf Fund principal amount represents uncommitted resources of Special Assistance Accounts (represented by 
the Special Reserve of ID 623.7 million at 29 Dhul Hijjah 1417H) transferred at 1 Muharram 1418H from IDB 
- OCR.  As per the Waqf Fund’s Regulations, a certain percentage of the total income of the Waqf Fund and the 
same percentage of the banking return from the Bank’s investments in the international market are allocated 
every year until the principal amount reaches one thousand million Islamic Dinars. The principal amount shall 
be held and maintained in perpetuity (see note 1).

13. SPECIAL ASSISTANCE 

At 1 Muharram 1418H, the Special Assistance resources were transferred to the Waqf Fund from IDB -OCR, 
and are to be used for the purposes set out in the Board of Governors’ Resolutions No. BG/14-99 and BG/3-402, 
as follows:
  

a) Training and research for member countries to re-orient their economies, financial and banking activities in 
conformity with the Islamic Shari’ah,

b) Provision of relief for natural disasters and calamities,
c) Provision to member countries for the promotion and furtherance of Islamic causes,
d) Provision towards the special account for technical assistance.
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 The Board of Executive Directors of the Bank has made certain commitments to make disbursements to support 
the above-mentioned causes.

 The Bank created IRTI, which is an international organization devoted to technical research and training. IRTI 
was formed pursuant to Article 2 of the Articles of Agreement of the Bank and became operational in 1403H.  
The President of the Bank is also the President of IRTI and the Board of Executive Directors of IDB is its 
supreme policy making body. Since 1 Muharram 1418H, the entire activities of IRTI are financed out of the Waqf 
Fund resources and are included as part of the program expenses of the Special Assistance accounts in these 
financial statements.

 The following amounts were distributed as grants from the Waqf Fund during the years ended 30 Dhul Hijjah 
1426H and 1425H as part of the activities of the Special Assistance accounts pursuant to its above-mentioned 
objectives.

1426H 1425H
Relief against disasters and calamities 3,415 1,477
Assistance for Islamic causes 9,034 9,828
Technical assistance grants 6,991 5,473
Technical cooperative program 1,215 1,209
Scholarship program 3,581 3,550
Contribution to AAOIFI 174

----------
66

----------
Total 24,410

======
21,603

======

14. SPECIAL ACCOUNT FOR LEAST DEVELOPED MEMBER COUNTRIES

 The Board of Governors, through their Resolution number BG/6-413, established a Special Account for the least 
developed member countries with an initial amount of US$ 100 million. Since 1 Muharram 1418H, the account 
has been included as part of the Waqf Fund. 20% of the total annual income of the Waqf Fund is required to be 
transferred to this Special Account.
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15. SHARE OF INCOME TRANSFERRED FROM IDB-ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES 

 Income from balances with banks and other assets recorded in the books of IDB - OCR, which are considered 
by management of the Bank as forbidden by Shari’ah, are not included in the income statement of the Bank but 
are transferred to the Waqf Fund and allocated in accordance with the Board of Governors’ resolution number 
BG/3-417. The amounts transferred during the years ended Dhul Hijjah is as follows:

1426H 1425H
Return on deposits with other banks 132 -
Return on call accounts 983

---------
629

---------
Total 1,115

=====
629

=====

 The Bank’s Shari’ah advisers have ruled that the investment in companies that deal with interest-bearing methods 
of finance is not permissible under Shari’ah. The Bank’s management is reviewing its equity participation 
portfolio and the cumulative income arising from such companies.  

 The allocation of the income transferred from IDB - OCR to the Waqf Fund’s resources during the years ended 
Dhul Hijjah is as follows:

 
1426H 1425H

Waqf Fund principal amount 167 94
Special Assistance 725 409
Special Account for Least Developed Member Countries 223

----------
126

----------
Total 1,115

======
629

======

16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of Dhul Hijjah comprise the following:

1426H 1425H
Cash at banks 30,491 11,594
Fixed deposits with banks 409,283

------------
295,515

------------
Total 439,774

=======
307,109

=======
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17. UNDISBURSED COMMITMENTS

 Undisbursed commitments at the end of Dhul Hijjah are as follows:

1426H 1425H
a) For disbursements:

Relief against natural disasters and calamities 12,186 12,291
Assistance for Islamic causes 73,660 73,116
Loans to Least Developed Member Countries (“LDMC”) 126,092 109,389
Special loans 3,361 2,354
Technical assistance grants 66,870 26,531
Scholarship program 9,541

-----------
9,109

-----------
291,710 232,790

b) Investments with Trust Funds 60,907
-----------

214,136
-----------

Total 352,617
=======

446,926
=======

18.   NET ASSETS AND LIABILITIES IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES

 The net assets and liabilities of the Waqf Fund in foreign currencies (in thousands of ID equivalents) at the end 
of Dhul Hijjah are as follows:

1426H 1425H
United States Dollar 284,536 268,706
Euro 269,356 268,208
Japanese Yen 76,939 73,238
Pound Sterling 77,022 85,305
Other currencies 6,747 1,849
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19. CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H
Maturity period determined

Maturity
Period not 
determined

Total
Less than 3 

months
3 to 12 
months

1 to 5 years Over 5 years

Assets 456,086
=======

108,351
=======

225,335
=======

70,758
=======

206,199
=======

1,066,729
=======

Liabilities 152,434
=======

10,770
=======

-
=======

-
=======

-
=======

163,204
=======

29 Dhul Hijjah 1425H
Maturity period determined

Maturity 
Period not 
determined

Total
Less than 3 

months
3 to 12 
months

1 to 5 years Over 5 years

Assets 394,133
=======

137,895
=======

82,702
=======

24,613
=======

267,710
=======

907,053
=======

Liabilities 15,538
=======

11,770
=======

-
=======

-
=======

-
=======

27,308
=======
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20. CONCENTRATION OF ASSETS

 Economic sectors:

 All operations of the Waqf Fund are receivable in respect of social sector financing. All investments are invested 
in accordance with criteria set out by management to ensure that the investee institutions have a credit rating 
acceptable to the management of the Waqf Fund or are in accordance with furthering the aims and objectives of 
the Bank.

 
 The geographical locations of assets and liabilities of the Waqf Fund are as follows:

30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H
TotalMember countries Non-member 

CountriesAsia Africa Europe

Assets 818,694
=======

112,844
=======

5,934
=======

129,257
=======

1,066,729
=======

Liabilities 163,204
=======

-
=======

-
=======

-
=======

163,204
=======

29 Dhul Hijjah 1425H
TotalMember countries Non-member 

CountriesAsia Africa Europe

Assets 726,227
=======

85,888
=======

2,936
=======

92,002
=======

907,053
=======

Liabilities 27,308
=======

-
=======

-
=======

-
=======

27,308
=======

 The geographical locations of assets and liabilities for 1426H and 1425H reflect the countries in which the 
beneficiaries of the assets are located.

21. COMINGLING OF ASSETS

 The management of the Waqf Fund has reviewed the comingling of the assets of the Waqf Fund principal 
amount, Special assistance account and Special account for Least Developed Members Countries (LDMC) as 
presented in these financial statements. The management has taken the advice of the Bank’s legal counsel and is 
of the opinion that the presentation set out in these financial statements is in accordance with the requirements 
of the regulations of the Waqf Fund.

22. ZAKAT AND TAX TREATMENT

 Since the Waqf Fund’s resources are part of Baitul Mal (public money), the Waqf Fund is not subject to zakat or 
tax.
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DELOITTE & TOUCHE
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MEMBER OF BDO INTERNATIONAL

P.O. Box 60930
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Saudi Arabia

AUDITORS’ REPORT

Your Excellencies the Chairman and Members of the Board of Governors
Islamic Development Bank

We have audited the accompanying statement of financial position of Islamic Development Bank - Export Financing 
Scheme (the “Fund”) as of 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H (30 January 2006) and the related statements of income, cash flows 
and changes in participants’ equity for the year then ended. These financial statements and the Fund’s undertaking to 
operate in accordance with Islamic Shari’ah are the responsibility of the Fund’s management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards for Islamic Financial Institutions. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Islamic Development Bank - Export Financing Scheme as of 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H (30 January 2006), and the results 
of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards 
issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) and the Shari’ah  
rules and principles as determined by the Shari’ah Board of the Fund.

As explained in notes 1 and 2, the Fund’s operations shall be merged into a new entity to be formed under the name of 
International Trade Finance Corporation which will be under the management of IDB. The net assets of the Fund will 
be purchased by IDB at the net asset values as of the date of purchase. Consequently, adjustments may be required to 
value the assets and liabilities to their estimated fair values.  The accompanying financial statements do not include 
any adjustments which may be necessary in order to reflect the proposed transaction.

We also note that the Fund has followed other accounting standards with respect to accounting measurement, 
recognition, presentation and disclosure matters not covered by the AAOIFI standards, which are disclosed in note 
2(a).
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ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK
EXPORT FINANCING SCHEME

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H (30 January 2006)

(in thousands of Islamic Dinars)

Notes 1426H 1425H
ASSETS
Cash at banks 3 3,624 481
Commodity placements with banks 4 75,615 142,521
Receivable from operations:

Murabaha financing 5 215,065 175,585
Less: Provision for operation risks 5 (4,178)

-----------
(7,457)

-----------
Receivable from operations, net 210,887 168,128

Accrued income and other assets 226
-----------

709
-----------

TOTAL ASSETS 290,352
======

311,839
======

LIABILITIES AND PARTICIPANTS’ EQUITY
LIABILITIES:
Accruals and other liabilities 1,558 1,530
Payable to Islamic Development Bank - Ordinary Capital 
Resources 6 29,417

-----------
62,464

-----------
Total liabilities 30,975

======
63,994

======
PARTICIPANTS’ EQUITY:
Participants’ contributions 7 134,507 134,257
Contribution bonus 8 18,023 18,023
General reserve 8 16,020 16,020
Retained earnings 90,827

-----------
79,545

-----------
Total participants’ equity 259,377

-----------
247,845

-----------
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND PARTICIPANTS’ EQUITY 290,352

======
311,839
======

The financial statements were authorized for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Executive 
Directors on 5 Safar, 1427H (5 March, 2006).

The attached notes from 1 through 15 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK
EXPORT FINANCING SCHEME

STATEMENT OF INCOME
For the Year Ended 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H (30 January 2006)

(In thousands of Islamic Dinars)

Notes 1426H 1425H
Income from:

Commodity placements with banks 2,117 3,777
Murabaha financing 6,676 2,646

Compensation to Islamic Development Bank – Ordinary 
Capital  Resources 6 (2,112)

----------
(574)

----------
6,681 5,849

Administrative expenses (163) (245)
Recovery of impairment of assets 5 3,279 -
Exchange gain/(loss) 1,485

----------
(721)

----------
Net income 11,282

======
4,883

======

The attached notes from 1 through 15 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK
EXPORT FINANCING SCHEME
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year Ended 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H (30 January 2006)
(In thousands of Islamic Dinars)

Notes 1426H 1425H
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATIONS
Net income for the year 11,282 4,883
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from 
operating activities:

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
    Murabaha financing (42,759) (87,778)

Payable to Islamic Development Bank – Ordinary 
Capital Resources (33,047) 67,892
Accrued income and other assets 483 (391)
Accruals and other liabilities 28

----------
1

----------
Net cash used in operating activities (64,013)

----------
(15,393)
----------

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITY
Change in commodity placements with banks 21,229

----------
(15,619)
----------

Net cash from/(used in) investing activity 21,229
----------

(15,619)
----------

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITY
Change in participants’ contributions 250

----------
259

----------
Net cash from financing activity 250

----------
259

----------
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (42,534) (30,753)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 12 89,629

----------
120,382
----------

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 12 47,095
======

89,629
======

The attached notes from 1 through 15 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK
EXPORT FINANCING SCHEME

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN PARTICIPANTS’ EQUITY
For the Year Ended 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H (30 January 2006)

(In thousands of Islamic Dinars)

Participants’ 
contributions

Contribution 
bonus

General 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Total

Balance at 29 Dhul-Hijjah 1424H 133,998 18,023 16,020 74,662 242,703
Increase in participants’ contributions 259 - - - 259

Net income for the year -
---------

-
---------

-
---------

4,883
---------

4,883
---------

Balance at 30 Dhul Hijjah 1425H 134,257 18,023 16,020 79,545 247,845
Increase in participants’ contributions 250 - - - 250
Net income for the year -

---------
-

---------
-

---------
11,282

---------
11,282

---------
Balance at 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H 134,507

======
18,023
=====

16,020
=====

90,827
=====

259,377
======

The attached notes from 1 through 15 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK
EXPORT FINANCING SCHEME

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H (30 January 2006)

1. INCORPORATION AND ACTIVITIES

 The Islamic Development Bank - Export Financing Scheme (the “Fund”) is a special fund established under 
Article 22 of the Articles of Agreement of Islamic Development Bank (the “Bank”) and pursuant to the decision 
taken by the Board of Governors of the Bank in their annual meeting held in 1406H (1995-96). The objective 
of the Fund is to promote export of non-traditional goods, especially intra-trade of goods originating from the 
participating countries. The membership of the Fund is open to all member countries of the Organization of the 
Islamic Conference. The Bank manages the Fund according to the regulations governing the Fund.  Administrative 
expenses of the Bank pertaining directly to the operations of the Fund are charged to the Fund.  The Fund 
commenced its operations on 2 Muharram 1408H (26 August 1987).

 As a special fund of the Bank, the Fund is not subject to an external regulatory authority.

 The Fund, through the Bank, consults the Islamic Fiqh Academy, an institution established by the Organization 
of the Islamic Conference, to provide it with Shari’ah advice. During 1422H, the Bank established its own 
Shari’ah Advisory Board. 

 The Fund carries out its business activities through the Bank’s headquarters in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia. The Fund’s 
financial year is the lunar Hijra year.

 The Board of Governors of IDB during their 30th meeting held on 17 Jumad Awwal 1426H (24 June 2005) 
approved the establishment of the International Islamic Trade Finance Corporation to focus primarily on trade 
finance operation for the IDB Group. The operations of the Fund shall be merged into the new corporation 
which will be under the management of IDB. The net assets of the Fund shall be purchased by IDB based on the 
adjusted net book value method as of the date of the purchase and all the Participants of the Fund shall become 
members of the new corporation. The contribution of each Participant in the capital of the corporation shall be 
equal to its entitlement in the assets of the Fund.

 The financial statements of the Fund are expressed in thousands of Islamic Dinars. Islamic Dinar (ID) is the unit 
of account of the Fund and is equal to one Special Drawing Right (SDR) with the International Monetary Fund.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Basis of preparation

 The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Article 16.2 of the Financial Regulations of the Fund 
and with the Financial Accounting Standards issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic 
Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) and the Shari’ah rules and principles as determined by the Shari’ah Board of the 
Fund. For matters which are not covered by AAOIFI standards, the Fund uses the relevant standards issued or 
adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (the IASB) and the relevant interpretation issued by 
the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee of the IASB.

 As mentioned in note 1, the Fund’s net assets shall be purchased by IDB and the Fund shall cease its operations. 
Therefore, the historical cost convention of accounting is no longer relevant. However, these financial statements 
have not been prepared on a liquidation basis valuing assets at their net realizable amounts in liquidation, and 
liabilities at the actual monetary amounts required to settle them as the management believes that the adjusted net 
book value of the Fund as of 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H (30 January 2006) approximates the actual net book value as 
of that date. Hence the financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention.
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b) Translation of currencies

 Transactions in currencies other than Islamic Dinars are recorded at the exchange rate between the Islamic 
Dinar and the underlying currency, derived from the SDR rates declared by the International Monetary Fund, 
at the dates of the respective transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated to Islamic Dinars on the basis of the exchange rate at the date of the statement of financial position. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses are credited or charged to the statement of income.

c) Revenue recognition

 Income from Murabaha financing is accrued on a time apportionment basis over the period from actual 
disbursement of funds to the scheduled repayment of instalments.

 Income from placements with Islamic and conventional banks is recognized on a time apportionment basis over 
the period from actual disbursement of the funds to the date of maturity.

d) Impairment of financial assets

 Impairment of receivable from operations:
 The Fund determines the provision for operation risks based on an assessment of collectibility risks in the total 

receivable from Murabaha financing. The provision is periodically adjusted based on a review of the prevailing 
circumstances. The assessment of the impairment is based on country risk ratings and long-term historical 
experience of the Fund (also see note 5).

 Adjustments to the provision are recorded as a charge or addition to income. In order to determine the adequacy 
of the provision, the Fund  considers the net present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the 
financial instruments’ implicit rate of return.

 Impairment of other financial assets:
 An assessment is made at each financial position date to determine whether there is objective evidence that a 

financial asset or a group of financial assets may be impaired.  The amount of the impairment losses for financial 
assets carried at amortized cost is calculated as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and its fair 
value.

 For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the carrying amount of the asset is adjusted either directly or 
through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the adjustment is included in the statement of 
income.

e) Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances and commodity placements with banks having a maturity of 
three months or less at the date of acquisition.

(In thousands of Islamic Dinars)

3. CASH AT BANKS

 Cash at banks at the end of Dhul Hijjah is comprised of the following:

1426H 1425H
Call accounts with Islamic banks 207 198
Call accounts with conventional banks 3,417

--------
283

--------
Total 3,624

=====
481

=====
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(In thousands of Islamic Dinars)

4. COMMODITY PLACEMENTS WITH BANKS

 Commodity placements with banks at the end of Dhul Hijjah are comprised of the following:

1426H 1425H
Placements with Islamic banks 61,111 11,663
Placements with conventional banks 14,504

----------
130,858
----------

Total 75,615
======

142,521
======

5. MURABAHA FINANCING

 Murabaha financing at the end of Dhul Hijjah is comprised of the following:

1426H 1425H
Gross amounts receivable 226,992 179,527
Less: Share of the Saudi Fund for Development (6,953) -
Less: Unearned income (4,974)

----------
(3,942)

----------
Murabaha financing, net 215,065

======
175,585
======

 All goods purchased for resale under Murabaha financing are made on the basis of specific purchase for resale 
to the subsequent customer. The promise of the customer is considered to be binding. Consequently, any loss 
suffered by the Fund as a result of default by the customer prior to the sale of goods would be made good by the 
customer.

 Share of the Saudi Fund for Development (SFD) represents their portion in the gross amounts receivable for the 
joint murabaha financing pursuant to an export financing agreement dated 14 Shaaban 1425H (28 September 
2004).

 The Fund considers the amounts due as impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable 
that it will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms.

 The balance in the provision for operation risks at the end of Dhul Hijjah is as follows:

1426H 1425H

Balance at beginning and at the end of the year 7,457 7,457
Recovery of impairment of assets (3,279)

----------
-

----------
4,178

======
7,457

======

 During the year, the Bank entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with one of the member countries 
for the settlement of the amounts due and received the first installment. The fund has reassessed the provision 
against the dues from that member country and has written back the excess provision to income.
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6. PAYABLE TO ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK - ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

 Investments and realization of investments made through the inter-fund account between the Fund and the Bank 
are considered as cash flows, with the corresponding amounts passed as advances or settlement of advances from 
the Bank.

 Form time to time, the Bank makes advances for operations on behalf of the Fund. The Fund annually compensates 
the Bank with its earnings on the outstanding balances at the end of each quarter based on the average of three 
months LIBOR. The charge to the Fund for the year ended 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426 was ID 2,112 thousand (Dhul 
Hijjah 1425: ID 574 thousand).

7. PARTICIPANTS’ CONTRIBUTIONS

 Participants’ contributions at the end of Dhul Hijjah are comprised of the following

1426H 1425H

Amount subscribed 320,250 320,000
Installments not yet due (160,750)

------------
(160,750)
------------

Called-up amount 159,500 159,250
Installments due not yet paid (26,029) (26,029)
Installments paid not yet due 1,036

------------
1,036

------------
Paid-up contributions 134,507

=======
134,257

=======

8. GENERAL RESERVE AND CONTRIBUTION BONUS

 The Board of Governors decided at their annual meeting in 1416H to transfer ID 16,020 thousand from retained 
earnings to general reserve. It was also decided that a contribution bonus of ID 18,023 thousand be made. The 
contribution bonus was allocated to participants based on their annual portion of net earnings since joining the 
Fund to 29 Dhul Hijjah 1414H and forms part of participants’ equity.

9. ASSETS AND (LIABILITIES) IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES

 The net assets and (liabilities) of the Fund in foreign currencies at the end of Dhul Hijjah are as follows:

1426H 1425H
United States Dollar 105,721 89,637
Japanese Yen 12,618 13,442
Euro 80,676 80,649
Pound Sterling 34,339 33,775
Deutsche Mark 1,777 1,861
French Franc 80 498
Non-SDR constituent currencies (527) (346)
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10. CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

 The contractual maturities of assets and liabilities according to their respective periods to maturity or expected 
periods to cash conversion at the end of Dhul Hijjah are as follows:

1426H
Maturity period determined Maturity 

period not
determined

Total
Less than
3 months

3 to 12
months

1 to 5
years

Over 5
years

Assets
Cash at banks 3,624 - - - - 3,624
Commodity placements with banks 75,615 - - - - 75,615
Murabaha financing 53,273 145,450 14,946 1,396 - 215,065
Accrued income and other assets 226

---------
-

---------
-

---------
-

---------
-

---------
226

---------
132,738
======

145,450
======

14,946
=====

1,396
=====

-
======

294,530

Less: Provision for operation risks (4,178)
---------

Total assets 290,352
======

Liabilities
Accruals and other liabilities - - - - 1,558 1,558
Payables to the Bank 29,417

---------
-

---------
-

---------
-

---------
-

---------
29,417
---------

Total liabilities 29,417
=====

-
=====

-
=====

-
=====

1,558
=====

30,975
=====
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1425H
Maturity period determined Maturity 

period not
determined

Total
Less than
3 months

3 to 12
months

1 to 5
years

Over 5
years

Assets
Cash at banks 481 - - - - 481
Commodity placements with banks 128,626 13,895 - - - 142,521
Murabaha financing 3,169 128,961 24,037 19,418 - 175,585
Accrued income and other assets 709

---------
-

---------
-

---------
-

---------
-

---------
709

---------
132,985
======

142,856
======

24,037
=====

19,418
=====

-
=====

319,296

Less: Provision for operation risks (7457)
---------

Total assets 311,839
======

Liabilities
Accruals and other liabilities - - - - 1,530 1,530
Payables to the Bank 62,464

---------
-

---------
-

---------
-

---------
-

---------
62,464
---------

Total liabilities 62,464
=====

-
=====

-
=====

-
=====

1,530
=====

63,994
=====
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11. CONCENTRATION OF ASSETS

 Economic sectors:

 All operations of the Fund are concentrated in the trade and commerce sectors. All liquid assets are invested 
in accordance with criteria set out by management to ensure that the investee institutions have a credit rating 
acceptable to the management of the Fund.

 The geographical locations of assets at the end of Dhul Hijjah are as follows:

1426H
Member countries Non-member 

countries
Total

Asia Africa
Cash at banks 502 - 3,122 3,624
Commodity placements with banks 61,110 - 14,505 75,615
Murabaha financing 196,703 18,362 - 215,065
Accrued income and other assets 226

----------
-

----------
-

----------
226

----------
258,541
======

18,362
======

17,627
======

294,530

Less: Provision for operation risks (4,178)
----------

Total assets 290,352
======

1425H
Member countries Non-member 

countries
Total

Asia Africa
Cash at banks 480 - 1 481
Commodity placements with banks 142,521 - - 142,521
Murabaha financing 152,326 23,259 - 175,585
Accrued income and other assets 709

----------
-

----------
-

----------
709

----------
296,036
======

23,259
======

1
======

319,296

Less: Provision for operation risks (7,457)
----------

Total assets 311,839
======
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12. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of Dhul Hijjah comprises the following:

1426H 1425H

Cash at banks 3,624 481
Commodity placements with banks 43,471

---------
89,148
---------

Total 47,095
======

89,629
=====

13. ZAKAT AND TAX TREATMENT

 Any liability for zakat and income tax is the responsibility of the individual participant.

14. COMMITMENTS

 The Fund’s undisbursed commitments for Murabaha financing operations at 30 Dhul Hijjah 1426H amounted 
to ID 206.2 million (1425H - ID 189.9 million).

15. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

 Certain figures for 1425H have been reclassified to conform the presentation in the current year.
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AUDITORS’ REPORT

Your Excellencies the Chairman and Members of the Board of Governors
Islamic Development Bank

We have audited the accompanying statement of net assets of Islamic Banks Portfolio for Investment and Development (the 
“Portfolio”) as of 31 December 2005, and the related statements of operations, cash flows, changes in net assets, portfolio 
investments, receivables and financing and of financial highlights for the year then ended.  These financial statements and the 
Portfolio’s undertaking to operate in accordance with Islamic Shari’ah are the responsibility of the Portfolio’s management.  
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards for Islamic Financial Institutions. Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for 
our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Islamic Banks’ Portfolio for Investment and Development as of 31 December 2005, and the results of its operations and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the Financial  Accounting Standards issued by the Accounting and 
Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) and the Shari’ah rules and principles as determined by 
the Shari’ah Board of the Portfolio.

As explained in notes 1 and 2, the Participant’s Committee of the Portfolio has decided to merge the Portfolio’s operations into 
a new entity to be formed under the name of International Trade Finance Corporation which will be under the management 
of Islamic Development Bank (IDB). The net assets of the Portfolio will be purchased by IDB at the net asset values as of 
the date of purchase. Consequently, adjustments may be required to value the assets and liabilities to their estimated fair 
values.  The accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustments which may be necessary in order to reflect 
the proposed transaction.

We also note that the Portfolio has followed other accounting standards with respect to accounting measurement, recognition, 
presentation and disclosure matters not covered by the AAOIFI standards, which are disclosed in note 2(a).
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(In thousands of United States Dollars)

Notes 2005 2004
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents Investments: 3, 13 40,176 26,258

Islamic Ijarah Sukuk 4 12,000 15,625
IDB - Unit Investment Fund 5, 13 10,937 10,937
Mudaraba funds 13 2,284 2,202
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek, net 6 26,259 28,948

Receivables:
Murabaha, net 7 20,532 31,021
Instalment sales 257 574
Istisna’a 4,560 4,442

Accrued income and other assets 5,212
----------

4,849
----------

Total Portfolio’s assets 122,217 124,856
Net assets financed by variable capital 9 11

----------
11

----------
Total assets 122,228

----------
124,867
----------

LIABILITIES 
Payable to Islamic Development Bank -  Ordinary 
Capital Resources

8, 13 12,847 15,857

Dividends payable 10 2,469 2,187
Accruals and other liabilities 367

----------
535

----------
Total portfolio’s liabilities 15,683

----------
18,579

----------
PORTFOLIO’S NET ASSETS 106,545

======
106,288
======

The attached notes from 1 through 18 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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ISLAMIC BANKS PORTFOLIO
FOR INVESTMENT AND DEVELOPMENT
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS (Continued)

31 December 2005
(In thousands of United States Dollars)

Notes 2005 2004
REPRESENTED BY
FIXED CAPITAL FUNDS
Paid-up capital 11 100,000 100,000
Reserve 10 6,534 6,277
Retained earnings -

-----------
-

-----------
Total fixed capital funds 106,534

-----------
106,277

-----------
VARIABLE CAPITAL FUNDS
Paid-up capital 11 - -
Retained earnings 11

-----------
11

-----------
Total variable capital funds 9 11

-----------
11

-----------
106,545
======

106,288
======

Number of shares outstanding, fixed capital funds 100,000
======

100,000
======

Net assets per share (USD), fixed capital funds 1,065
======

1,063
======

The financial statements were authorized for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Executive 
Directors on 4 Safar, 1427H (4 March, 2006).

The attached notes from 1 through 18 form an integral part of these financial statements
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FOR INVESTMENT AND DEVELOPMENT

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
For the year ended 31 December 2005 
(In thousands of United States Dollars)

Notes 2005 2004
INCOME
Income from cash and cash equivalents 503

---------
181

---------
Income from investments, sales and financing:
Investments:

Islamic Ijarah Sukuk 558 436
IDB - Unit Investment Fund 489 395
Mudaraba funds 83 74
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek 8,757 9,936

Sales:
Murabaha transactions 1,596 846
Instalment sales 32 53
Istisna’a 310 220

Mudaraba fees 72 145
Other income 172

---------
74

---------
Total income from investments, sales and financing 12,069

---------
12,179
---------

EXPENSES
Depreciation expense - Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek 6 (7,010) (8,110)
Impairment loss/reversal (323) 102
Other expenses (75)

---------
(55)

---------
(7,408)
---------

(8,063)
---------

Net income from investments, sales and financing 4,661
---------

4,116
---------

Net income before Mudarib’s share 5,164 4,297
Less: Mudarib’s share (775)

---------
(645)

---------
INCREASE IN NET ASSETS AFTER MUDARIB’S SHARE 4,389

=====
3,652

=====

The attached notes from 1 through 18 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2005

 (In thousands of United States Dollars)

2005 2004

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Increase in net assets before Mudarib’s share 5,164 4,297

Adjustments for: 
Depreciation 7,010 8,110

Provision for impairment 323
----------

-
----------

12,497 12,407
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Murabaha receivable 10,489 (18,145)
Instalment sales receivable 317 291
Istisna’a receivable (118) (2,478)
Accrued income and other assets (363) (1,418)
Payable to Islamic Development Bank - Ordinary Capital 
Resources 

(3,140) (2,050)

Accruals and other liabilities (168)
----------

(251)
----------

Cash from/(used in) operations 19,514 (11,664)
Mudarib’s fee paid (645)

----------
(560)

----------
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 18,869

----------
(12,204)
----------

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net decrease in investment in IDB - Unit Investment Fund - 5,000
Net decrease in investment in Islamic Ijarah Sukuk 3,625 -
Net (increase)/decrease in Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek (4,644) 1,533
Net increase in Mudaraba funds (82)

----------
(75)

----------
Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities (1,101)

----------
6,458

----------
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid (3,850)

----------
(2,988)

----------
Net cash used in financing activities (3,850)

----------
(2,988)

----------
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 13,918 (8,734)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 26,258

----------
34,992

----------
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 40,176

======
26,258

======
Supplemental Schedule on Non-Cash Items
Dividends declared 4,132

======
3,437

======

The attached notes from 1 through 18 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF PORTFOLIO
INVESTMENTS, RECEIVABLES AND FINANCING

31 December 2005
(In thousands of United States Dollars)

  2005 Percentage 
of portfolio

2004 Percentage 
of portfolio

INVESTMENTS
Islamic Ijarah Sukuk 12,000 15% 15,625 17%
IDB - Unit Investment Fund 10,937 14% 10,937 12%
Mudaraba funds 2,284 3% 2,202 2%
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek, net 26,259 34% 28,948 31%

RECEIVABLES
Murabaha, net 20,532 27% 31,021 33%
Instalment sales 257 1% 574 1%
Istisna’a 4,560

----------
6%

----------
4,442

----------
4%

----------
TOTAL INVESTMENTS,
   RECEIVABLES AND FINANCING

76,829
======

100%
======

93,749
======

100%
======

.

The attached notes from 1 through 18 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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ISLAMIC BANKS PORTFOLIO
FOR INVESTMENT AND DEVELOPMENT

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
31 December 2005

2005 2004
Data per share (In United States Dollars) 
Net assets value (fixed capital funds) at the beginning of the year 1,063 1,061
Net income from investments, sales  and financing before Mudarib’s share 51 43
Less: Mubarib’s share (8)

----------
(6)

----------
Net income from investment, sales and financing after Mudarib’s share 43

----------
37

----------
Distribution to shareholders:
From net profits on investments, sales and financing (41)

----------
(35)

----------
Total distributions (41)

----------
(35)

----------
Net assets value (fixed capital funds) at the end of the year 1,065

======
1,063

======
Financial ratios/supplementary data (thousands of United States Dollars)
Total net assets at the end of the year – fixed capital funds 106,534 106,277
Average net assets* 108,126 107,370
Ratio of expenses to average net assets 7% 8%
Turnover rate of portfolio investments, receivables and  financing 16% 13%
Annual rate of return 4% 3%

*The average net assets is calculated on a simple average basis using quarter-end net asset balances.

The attached notes from 1 through 18 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2005

1. INCORPORATION AND ACTIVITIES

 Islamic Banks’ Portfolio for Investment and Development (the “Portfolio”) is a trust fund established under 
Article 23 of the Articles of Agreement of Islamic Development Bank (the “Bank” or “IDB”) and pursuant to the 
Memorandum of Understanding signed by the Islamic banks in 1407H (1987). The objective of the Portfolio is 
to mobilize the liquidity available with Islamic banks and financial institutions and the savings of investors and 
channel them to finance trade of Islamic countries in accordance with the principles of Shari’ah.

 The Bank consults on behalf of the Portfolio, the Islamic Fiqh Academy, an institution established by the 
Organization of the Islamic Conference, to obtain Shari’ah advice. During 1422H (2001), the Bank also 
established its own Shari’ah Advisory Board.

 The Bank manages the Portfolio as a Mudarib based upon the regulations of the Portfolio. The Portfolio has a 
Participants’ Committee chosen by the founding member banks of the Portfolio. This committee oversees the 
actions of the Mudarib and the general policies of the Portfolio.

 The duration of the Portfolio is 25 years.  This period may be extended by equal periods. The Portfolio may be 
liquidated at any time by the Bank and with approval of the Participants’ Committee.

 The Participant’s Committee of the Portfolio during its meeting number 26 held on June 22, 2005, discussed the 
matter of establishing the International Trade Finance Corporation to focus primarily on trade finance operations 
for the IDB Group. The operations of the Portfolio shall be merged into the new corporation which will be under 
management of IDB. Subsequently, the Executive Committee of the Portfolio in its meeting number 34 held on 
November 25, 2005 approved the purchase by IDB of the net assets of the Portfolio based on the adjusted net 
book value method as of the date of the purchase which is expected to be June 2006. Members of the Portfolio 
who agree to join the new corporation based on the adjusted net book value as of the date of the purchase will 
have their equity transferred to the new corporation. The remaining members shall be paid out by IDB (see note 
2a).

 The Portfolio carries out its business activities through the Bank’s headquarters in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia. 

 As a trust fund of the Bank, the Portfolio is not subject to an external regulatory authority.
 
 The financial statements of the Portfolio are expressed in thousands of United States dollars. All disbursements 

on operations are made in United States dollars and all repayments in United States dollars.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below:

a) Basis of preparation
 The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Article 12 of the Financial Regulations of the Portfolio 

and with the Financial Accounting Standards issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic 
Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) and the Shari’ah rules and principles as determined by the Shari’ah Board of 
the Portfolio.  For matters which are not covered by AAOIFI standards, the Portfolio uses the relevant standard 
issued or adopted by the International Acccounting Standards Board (the IASB) and the relevant interpretation 
issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee of the IASB. 
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 As mentioned in note 1, the Portfolio’s net assets shall be purchased by IDB during 2006 and the Portfolio shall 
cease its operations. Therefore, the historical cost convention of accounting is no longer relevant. However, 
these financial statements have not been prepared on a liquidation basis valuing assets at their net realizable 
amounts in liquidation, and liabilities at the actual monetary amounts required to settle them as the management 
believes that the adjusted net book value of the Portfolio as of December 31, 2005 approximates the actual net 
book value as of that date.

 Hence the financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention as modified for the measurement 
at fair value for investments.

b) Foreign currencies
 Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into United States dollars by applying exchange rates ruling 

at the dates of such transactions. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated into 
United States dollars at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the statement of net assets. Realized and 
unrealized gains or losses on exchange are credited or charged to the statement of operations.

c) Revenue recognition

1. Cash and cash equivalents
 Income from liquid funds is recognized when such income is earned.  Income from short-term commodity 

transactions is accrued evenly over the period from the actual disbursement date of the funds to the date of 
maturity.

2. Investments
 Income from investment in Islamic Ijarah Sukuk is recognized as declared by the investee banks    and 

includes accretions of any discounts, net of amortization of any premium on acquisition.

 Income from investment in IDB - Unit Investment Fund is recognized when dividends are declared.

 Income from investment in Mudaraba funds is recognized when such income is earned.

 Revenue from Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek is allocated proportionately to the financial periods over the 
lease term.

3. Operations
 Income from Murabaha and instalment sales financing is accrued on a time apportionment basis over the 

period from the actual disbursement of the funds to the scheduled repayment of instalments.

 Income from Istisna’a is recognized using the percentage of completion method.  The percentage of 
completion is determined based on the proportion of the cost incurred to date to the total cost of the 
project.

d) Cash and cash equivalents
 Cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with maturities of less than 90 days from the date of acquisition 

and represent short-term investments with banks.

e) Financial contracts
 Financial contracts consist of Murabaha, Instalment sales and Istisna’a receivable, Mudaraba financing and 

Musharaka financing.  Balances relating to these contracts are stated at the cost of goods sold or disbursements 
made to the beneficiaries plus income recognized by the Portfolio to the statement of net assets date, less 
repayments received.
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 f) IDB - Unit Investment Fund
 The investment in IDB - Unit Investment Fund is held as available-for-sale and is initially recorded at cost and 

remeasured at fair value.  Unrealized gains are reported as a separate component of equity until the investment 
is derecognized. On derecognition the cumulative gain previously reported in equity is included in the statement 
of operations for the year.

g) Islamic Ijarah Sukuk
 The investment in Islamic Ijarah Sukuk is held to maturity and is carried at amortised cost, less provision 

for impairment in value.  Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on 
acquisition.

h) Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek
 This represents assets purchased by the Portfolio either individually or as a part of a syndication with other 

financial institutions or entities and leased to beneficiaries for their use under Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek 
agreements whereby the ownership of the assets is transferred to the beneficiaries at the end of lease term and the 
completion of all payments under the agreement. The assets are stated at their acquisition cost less accumulated 
depreciation up to the date of the statement of net assets. The assets are depreciated using the straight-line 
method over the related lease period. No depreciation expense is recorded in respect of assets not yet put to 
use.

i) Variable capital, net assets and income
 The variable capital is subscribed and called to finance specific operations identified by the Portfolio. Net assets 

financed by variable capital represent the assets financed by the variable capital for these operations, net of 
specific liabilities. As the assets are realized, the proceeds will be used to redeem the variable capital contributed 
for their acquisition.

 Income from assets financed by variable capital is recognized on the same basis as that applicable to various 
modes of financing as explained in these accounting policies and is included, net of expenses, as part of retained 
earnings of the variable capital to be distributed based on the Regulations of the Portfolio.

j) Reserve
 In accordance with the Regulations of the Portfolio, 5% of net income before Mudarib’s share is transferred 

annually at the year-end to a reserve account, which is not available for distribution.  No transfer to reserve is 
made in respect of income arising from restricted assets financed by variable capital.  

k) Impairment of financial assets
 Impairment of receivable from operations: 
 The Portfolio determines its provision for the receivable from operations based on an assessment of collectibility 

risks in the receivable from operations. The provision is periodically adjusted based on a review of the prevailing 
circumstances. The assessment of the impairment is made on a case-by-case basis and long-term historical 
experience of the Portfolio. In order to determine the adequacy of the provision, the Portfolio considers the net 
present value of the expected future cash flows discounted at the financial instruments’ implicit rate of return.

 Adjustments to the provision are recorded as a charge or addition to income. 
 
 Impairment of other financial assets:
 An assessment is made at each statement of net assets date to determine whether there is objective evidence 

that a financial asset or a group of financial assets may be impaired.  The amount of the impairment losses for 
financial assets carried at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
its fair value.

 For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the carrying amount of the asset is adjusted either directly or 
through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the adjustment is included in the statement of 
operations.
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3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December comprise the following:

2005 2004

Liquid funds with Islamic banks 40,176
======

26,258
======

 Liquid funds maintained with Islamic banks are utilized by the respective banks in the purchase and sale of 
commodities. Such funds are maintained to meet approved investment operations.

4. ISLAMIC IJARAH SUKUK

 This represents investments held to maturity.  The fair value of Islamic Ijara Sukuk approximates their carrying 
value at 31 December 2005 and 2004.

5. IDB - UNIT INVESTMENT FUND

 The Portfolio has an investment in IDB - Unit Investment Fund (the “Fund”), which was established by the Bank 
as a trust fund. The Bank manages the Fund as a Mudarib in accordance with the regulations of the Fund.

 The Portfolio was a founding member of the Fund.  At 31 December 2005, the Portfolio owned 3.3% of the 
issued units of the Fund (3.3% at 31 December 2004). The fair value of the Fund at 31 December 2005 and 2004 
approximates its cost.
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6. IJARAH MUNTAHIA BITTAMLEEK, net

 Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek at 31 December comprises the following:

2005 2004
Cost:
Assets not in use:

At the beginning of the year 3,813 6,362
Additions during the year 4,644 2,519
Transferred to assets in use during the year -

----------
(5,068)

----------
At the end of the year 8,457

----------
3,813

----------
Assets in use:

At the beginning of the year 41,067 44,346
Transferred from assets not in use during the year - 5,068
Transferred to beneficiaries during the year -

----------
(8,347)

----------
At the end of the year 41,067

----------
41,067

----------
Accumulated depreciation:

At the beginning of the year (15,932) (12,117)
Charged during the year (7,010) (8,110)
Transferred during the year -

----------
4,295

----------
At the end of the year (22,942) (15,932)
Less: Provision for impairment (323)

----------
-

----------
Balance at the end of the year 26,259

======
28,948

======

Certain of the assets referred to above represent the Portfolio’s share in the lease pool. Included in assets in use 
is an amount of US$ 5 million (2004: $ Nil) that represents the cost of fully depreciated assets, which shall be 
ultimately transferred to the beneficiaries under the terms of the lease agreements.
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 Future instalments receivable related to Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek at 31 December are estimated as follows:

2005 2004
Ijarah operations in Egypt 1,921 2,356
Ijarah operations in Saudi Arabia 4,644 6,515
Ijarah operations in Brunei 3,237 3,722
Ijarah operations in Algeria 3,871 3,814
Ijarah operations in Sudan 1,026 4,232
Ijarah operations in Lebanon 2,657 3,076
Ijarah operations in Iran 3,794 4,588
Ijarah operations in United Arab Emirates 5,000 5,093
Ijarah operations in Turkey 750 833
Ijarah operations in Kazakhstan 3,900 -
Ijarah operations in Uzbekistan 688

-----------
-

-----------
Total 31,488

=======
34,229

=======

 The precise amount of receivable for any year is only known prior to the commencement of the year, as the 
rentals are determined annually based on prevailing London Inter Bank Offered Rates (“LIBOR”). The above 
amounts are approximated based on estimated LIBOR.

7. MURABAHA RECEIVABLES, NET

 Murabaha receivables at 31 December comprise the following:

2005 2004
Gross amounts receivable 21,418 32,316
Less: Unearned income (576) (985)

Provision for impairment (310)
-----------

(310)
-----------

Murabaha receivables, net 20,532
=======

31,021
======

 All goods purchased for resale under Murabaha contracts are made on the basis of specific purchase for resale 
to the subsequent customer. The promise of the customer is considered to be binding and any loss suffered 
by the Portfolio, as a result of default by the customer prior to the sale of goods, would be made good by the 
customer. 
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8. PAYABLE TO ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK - ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

 Payable to the Bank at 31 December comprises the following:

2005 2004

Mudarib’s share of profit (see note 10) 775 645
Short-term advances and inter-fund account 12,072

----------
15,212

----------
Total 12,847

======
15,857

======

 From time to time, the Bank makes advances for operations on behalf of the Portfolio. If these advances are 
outstanding for more than five days, the Portfolio compensates the Bank with its earnings on investments in 
short-term commodity transactions for the period to repayment. There was no charge to the Portfolio for the year 
ended 31 December 2005.

9. NET ASSETS FINANCED BY VARIABLE CAPITAL 

 Net assets financed by variable capital at 31 December comprise the following:

2005 2004

Cash and cash equivalents 30
----------

30
----------

Total assets 30 30
Less: Accrued expenses and other liabilities (19)

----------
(19)

----------
Net assets financed by variable capital 11

======
11

======

 The above net assets financed are represented by the balance of retained earnings of the variable capital 
representing net income retained in previous years.

10. DISTRIBUTION OF NET INCOME

 In accordance with the Participants’ Committee’s resolution number IBP/PC/Spl/3/24 adopted in a special 
meeting held on 27 October 2003, the Regulations of the Portfolio were amended and the Mudarib fee was 
increased to 15% of the Portfolio’s net income.  Accordingly, the net income for each financial year will be 
distributed as follows:

Mudarib’s share of profit (for managing the Portfolio) 15 %
Transfer to reserve (non-distributable)   5 %
Dividends 80 %

 It was further resolved to introduce a stratified Mudarib fee over and above the 15% if the Portfolio’s return 
on equity exceeds benchmarks based on the 12 months LIBOR, with a corresponding reduction in the rate of 
dividends.

 Based on legal interpretation of its regulations, which was obtained from the Bank, the Portfolio makes no 
transfer to reserve in respect of profits arising from assets financed by variable capital.
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11. CAPITAL

 Capital at 31 December comprises the following:

2005 2004
Fixed capital
Authorized 200,000

======
200,000
======

Issued, subscribed, called and paid-up 100,000
======

100,000
======

Variable capital
Authorized 280,000

======
280,000
======

Issued and subscribed 179,533 179,533
Capital not yet called (132,089)

------------
(132,089)
------------

Capital called 47,444 47,444
Capital redeemed (47,444)

------------
(47,444)

------------
Paid-up variable capital -

=======
-

=======
At its meeting held on 10 Shaaban 1421H (6 November 2000), the Participants’ Committee approved an 
increase in the authorized fixed capital from US$ 100 million to US$ 200 million.

12. THE PORTFOLIO’S ROLE AS A MUDARIB

 The Portfolio, in its own name and as a Mudarib, makes investments which are co-financed by other institutions. 
The Portfolio is entitled to an agreed share of profit from such investments, which is reflected in the statement of 
operations as Mudaraba fees, in addition to any share of profit attributable to its own investments. 

 Such investments consist of Mudaraba, Ijarah and Murabaha agreements to finance operations in Islamic coun-
tries. The co-financiers are liable to risks in the proportion of their respective investments. Accordingly, these 
investments, which relate to co-financiers, are not included in the accompanying financial statements

13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 In the ordinary course of its activities, the Portfolio transacts business with certain participants and/or their affili-
ates. The terms of these transactions are approved by the Portfolio’s management. The resulting balances from 
such transactions are included in the statement of net assets as follows:

2005 2004
Cash and cash equivalents:

Shamil Bank of Bahrain 40,168 26,250
Investment:

IDB - Unit Investment Fund 10,937 10,937
Al Baraka Group - Mudaraba funds 2,284 2,202

Payable to the Bank (see Note 8):

Current account 12,072 15,212
As Mudarib’s share of profit 775 645
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14. CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

 The contractual maturities of the Portfolio’s assets and liabilities according to their respective periods to 
maturity or expected periods to cash conversion at 31 December are as follows:

2005
Maturity period determined Maturity 

period not 
determined

Total
Less than
1 month

1 to 12
months

1 to 5
years

Over 5
years

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 40,176 - - - - 40,176
Investments 2,966 7,252 27,465 2,860 10,937 51,480
Receivables 3,428 16,385 3,768 1,768 - 25,349
Accrued income and other assets -

-----------
5,212

-----------
-

-----------
-

-----------
-

-----------
5,212

-----------
Total Portfolio’s assets 46,570

======
28,849

======
31,233

======
4,628

======
10,937

======
122,217
======

Liabilities
Payable in cash:

Payable to the Bank 12,847 - - - - 12,847
Dividends payable - 2,469 - - - 2,469
Accruals and other  liabilities -

-----------
367

-----------
-

-----------
-

-----------
-

-----------
367

-----------
Total Portfolio’s liabilities 12,847

======
2,836

======
-

======
-

======
-

======
15,683

======

2004
Maturity period determined Maturity 

period not 
determined

Total
Less than
1 month

1 to 12
months

1 to 5
years

Over 5
years

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 26,258 - - - - 26,258
Investments 427 13,162 20,396 12,790 10,937 57,712
Receivables 2,088 24,660 6,512 2,777 - 36,037
Accrued income and otherassets -

-----------
4,849

-----------
-

-----------
-

-----------
-

-----------
4,849

-----------
Total Portfolio’s assets 28,773

======
42,671

======
26,908

======
15,567

======
10,937

======
124,856
======

Liabilities
Payable in cash:

Payable to the Bank 15,857 - - - - 15,857
Dividends payable - 2,187 - - - 2,187
Accruals and other liabilities -

---------
535

--------
-

---------
-

----------
-

----------
535

----------
Total Portfolio’s liabilities 15,857

=====
2,722

=====
-

=====
-

======
-

======
18,579

======
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15. CONCENTRATION OF ASSETS

 An analysis of the Portfolio’s assets by industry at 31 December is as follows:

2005
Public
utilities

Transport Industry
and

mining

Social 
services

Other  Total

Cash and  cash equivalents - - - - 40,176 40,176
Investments 3,680 7,097 10,233 5,248 25,222 51,480
Receivables 1,850 - 9,490 - 14,009 25,349
Accrued  income and other assets -

---------
-

---------
-

---------
-

---------
5,212

---------
5,212

---------
Total assets 5,530

=====
7,097

=====
19,723
=====

5,248
=====

84,619
=====

122,217
======

2004
Public
utilities

Transport Industry
and

mining

Social 
services

Other Total

Cash and cash equivalents - - - - 26,258 26,258
Investments 14,022 7,998 6,928 - 28,764 57,712
Receivables 5,118 3,053 14,008 574 13,284 36,037
Accrued  income and other assets -

--------
-

--------
-

--------
-

-------
4,849
-------

4,849
-------

Total assets 19,140
=====

11,051
=====

20,936
=====

574
====

73,155
=====

124,856
======
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15. CONCENTRATION OF ASSETS (CONTINUED)

 The geographical locations of the Portfolio’s assets at 31 December are as follows:

2005
Cash and cash

equivalents
Investments Receivables Total

Saudi Arabia - 14,090 6,458 20,548
Bahrain 40,176 - - 40,176
Egypt - 697 2,179 2,876
Bangladesh - - 65 65
Turkey - 2,570 4,584 7,154
Lebanon - 2,095 - 2,095
Iran - 3,680 - 3,680
Malaysia - 5,000 - 5,000
Kazakhistan - 8,900 257 9,157
Algeria - 3,871 - 3,871
Sudan - 791 964 1,755
Brunei - 3,143 - 3,143
Qatar - - 4,560 4,560
United Arab Emirates - 3,955 - 3,955
Pakistan - 2,000 2,495 4,495
Uzbakistan - 688 - 688
Indonesia -

----------
-

----------
3,787

----------
3,787

----------
40,176

======
51,480

======
25,349

======
117,005

Accrued  income and other assets 5,212
----------

Total assets 122,217
======



264

ISLAMIC BANKS PORTFOLIO

IDB ANNUAL REPORT 1426H

APPENDIX-I

(In thousands of United States Dollars)

15. CONCENTRATION OF ASSETS (CONTINUED)

2004
Cash and cash

equivalents
Investments Receivables Total

Saudi Arabia - 16,168 6,776 22,944
Bahrain 26,258 5,625 - 31,883
Egypt - 1,077 - 1,077
Bangladesh - - 10,109 10,109
Turkey - 2,977 7,183 10,160
Lebanon - 2,561 - 2,561
Iran - 4,525 3,053 7,578
Malaysia - 5,000 - 5,000
Kazakhistan - - 574 574
Algeria - 3,814 - 3,814
Sudan - 2,967 - 2,967
Brunei - 3,627 - 3,627
Qatar - 5,000 4,442 9,442
United Arab Emirates - 4,371 - 4,371
Pakistan - - 3,900 3,900
Uzbekistan - - - -
Indonesia -

----------
-

----------
-

----------
-

----------
26,258

======
57,712

======
36,037

======
120,007

Accrued  income and other assets 4,849
----------

Total assets 124,856
======

16. ZAKAT AND TAX 

 Any liability for zakat and income tax is the responsibility of the individual participants.

17. COMMITMENTS

 At 31 December 2005, undisbursed commitments for investing in operations and other investments amount to 
US$ 63.9 million (US$ 69.6 million at 31 December 2004).

18. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

 Certain figures for 2004 have been reclassified to conform with the presentation in the current year.
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